From: Deborah Richardson <deborah.richardson@buckinghamshire.gov.uk> On Behalf Of Palvinder Kudhail
Sent: 12 January 2022 09:51
Subject: No. 15: Bi-weekly communication from Service Director- All staff must read this

Colleagues, 

Happy New Year! I hope that many of you had some well-deserved time to relax and rest over the festive season. As we move into the next stage of our improvement journey, it is important to take stock of the distance we have travelled and how much we have accomplished. You have all worked incredibly hard and with each passing day, the service afforded to our children and young people is strengthened.  

Just in case you missed the comms just before Xmas (although I hope you read every comms that comes out!), we are pleased with the outcome of the Ofsted inspection. I would like to thank everyone again for the hard work, preparation and exceptional conduct in the lead up to and during the inspection. The inspection report will be published in February 2022. 

Our children and young people have faced, and continue to face, extraordinary challenges which have profoundly disrupted their sense of normal life. We are continually navigating these waters, learning and adapting our practice to better safeguard and support. The New Year brings fresh opportunity to really reflect on what our children and young people really need and build for them, the service we want them to experience. I want to hear from as many of you as possible your ideas, reflections, thoughts, things we could do better, things we do really well. I will be setting up further staff sessions in the coming weeks and visiting teams regularly. I am always happy to hear any suggestions or feedback, so please do attend a session or get in contact with me directly. 
Let’s make 2022 the best yet! 

Self-harm and suicidal ideation

You will be aware that across the service we are seeing significant increases in young people aged between 12 and 17 harming themselves. In some cases there have been clear attempts at suicide. The numbers of young people being referred to the service are unprecedented.

The actions that have been taken to address this have been:

1. Information sharing with all schools, especially secondary schools, to encourage them to do more about the emotional well-being of their pupils and to also get clear information out to parents on what they can do to prevent further instances.
1. One to one conversations with schools when one of their pupils has harmed themselves/tried to take their own life.
1. Briefing to central Government politicians via our own elected members on what is happening.
1. Close liaison with CAMHS and other partners locally on ensuring the response to individual young people is robust.

In relation to our practice, we have a number of expectations that are non-negotiable in this area. These are:

1. When it is reported to us a young person has attempted to take their own life, self-harmed or expressed suicidal ideations then we must understand this behaviour as the young person experiencing significant harm and/or are likely to experience significant harm in the future. This is irrespective of the fact this has (allegedly and on the face of it) been self-inflicted.
1. This means our response to all these incidents must start under our obligations under Section 47 of the Children Act 1989.
1. S.47 is a very useful process to achieving the first and most pressing task; to gather and share what has happened with all relevant partners via an immediate strategy discussion. In practical terms this will include the school, CAMHS and any other agency involved. Talking to those that know the child and potentially the family will allow known information to be triangulated (i.e. what the parents may have said at A&E when the child was brought in), to understand the history and allow a judgement to be made on future risk. The meeting/discussion should tease out what the triggers to the event may have been, when the act of self-harm happened, what may have been the influencing factors etc.
1. The outcome of the S.47 strategy discussion has to set out a view about presenting risk (there may be some actions to find out more about this), who is best placed to speak with and assess the child and critically the creation of a safety plan designed to mitigate risk.
1. The write up of the strategy discussion must include a clear account of:
1. Presenting risk.
1. Who will speak with the child and by when to assess further.
1. The safety plan.
1. Where the child or young person has been taken to A&E/Hospital, the name and contact details of the assessing clinician from PIRLS or CAMHS. 

Remember to use the guidance for strategy discussions which can be found here. 

1. It maybe that there is no further role for our service from this point, or that this ends the S.47 enquiry and involvement continues under S.17. There is no expectation that these cases will proceed to case conference. This should be considered if a parent is found to be failing to protect the child in question.

Please ensure your staff fully understand what is expected of them. If you have any questions or require more detail about any aspect of this difficult work please ask your Head of Service.

Booster Vaccine Roll-out

A booster dose of the coronavirus (COVID-19) vaccine helps improve the level of protection you have from your first 2 doses of the vaccine and helps give you longer-term protection against getting seriously ill from COVID-19. Everyone aged 18 and over can now book a COVID-19 booster at a local vaccination site. We would encourage any staff who have not yet had the vaccine or the booster vaccine to book a slot. 

Case Summaries

Our audit activity continues to highlight that case summaries on children’s records vary in content and quality. Case summaries should be completed for every child that is open to the service. Case summaries must be reviewed and updated as appropriate when circumstances change, but as a minimum every 3 months. When a case summary is updated, information that is out of date must be removed so when doing this ensure that the entire case summary content is reviewed. The content of the case summary must be succinct and follow the guidance which you can access here. 

Unaccompanied asylum seeking children

Attached are 3 training material documents focused on the age assessment process for unaccompanied asylum seeking children.  There are some key points to note for those of you routinely involved in assessing and supporting this cohort of children. 

1. If a young person challenges an initial Home Office decision regarding their age assessment, the Local Authority must complete their own age assessment. It cannot seek to rely solely upon the original Home Office decision. 
1. Short form age assessments may only be completed where the young person appears to be ‘obviously’ over 23. If the young person appears younger, a full age assessment must be completed. 
1. Full age assessments must be completed in a timely way and there should be no delays to this process.  
1. If the Local Authority believes that, after assessment, the young person is in fact an adult (and the young person is disputing this) due consideration should be given to the safeguarding arrangements in accommodating what may be an adult. 
1. It is important to ensure the correct language/dialect are used by the interpreter and that if at all possible the interpreter speaks to the child/young person ‘in person’. Where possible the same interpreter should be used for each interaction.  

Please also be aware of a recent change to the Home Office guidance regarding ‘no recourse to public funds’ (NRPF) which now says that the Home Office must not impose NRPF status where a person:
1. Is destitute (does not have adequate accommodation or any means of obtaining it and/or cannot meet their other essential living needs)
1. Is at risk of imminent destitution 
1. Has an income that is not sufficient to meet a child’s particular and essential additional needs
1. Is faced with exceptional financial circumstances. 

If a parent therefore has previously been assessed as NRPF, they should now be encouraged to reapply (no funding should be withdrawn whilst this process occurs).








Domestic Abuse

In November 2021, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman published a summary report detailing learning for Local Authorities on the support given to victims of domestic abuse.  The report provides case studies of where councils have failed to respond appropriately to cases of domestic abuse.  The most important learning point highlighted is the need for local councils to provide services for victims of domestic abuse as soon as they ask for help. Delays, ignoring disclosures, or failing to notice the signs of abuse can leave vulnerable people at risk for longer than necessary. Please take the time to read this informative report and consider how to apply this learning when working with families impacted by domestic abuse. 

Helping Hands Referrals

Referrals to the Helping Hands team to support families with food and finance should now be made via the online referral form (which can be accessed here) or via telephone on 01296 531151. The team are no longer able to accept referrals made via the helping hands email address. 

The Household Support Grant continues until 31st March 2022 and the team are able to assist with the following (subject to verification checks taking place):

1. Food
1. Fuel (gas/ electric/ water)
1. Grants to assist with debt – particularly but not exclusively – rent/ council tax/ gas/ electric/ water arrears
1. White goods
1. Beds/ Mattresses
1. Winter clothing

Referrals can be made by professionals or by the public so please continue to access support via this route for those children, young people or families that are in need. 

Barnardo’s RU Safe

Following a recent round of competitive tendering, I am pleased to announce the Barnardo’s have successfully been awarded the contract to deliver the County’s Return Home Interview Service, providing support to children and young people who go missing from home or care.  This means that there will be no changes to the way return home interviews are delivered in Buckinghamshire.  Please be aware however that from 31 March, the Barnardo’s RU Safe service will no longer be commissioned to provide specialist interventions for children at risk of exploitation.

Any children receiving exploitation interventions from Barnardo’s RU Safe will be closed prior to 31 March. Any of those with outstanding areas of need will be referred back to the lead agency to identify the most suitable provider or professional to deliver the support required.

Please remember that if you are working with a child and there are current exploitation concerns, you should refer directly in to the exploitation hub, for children already open to Children’s Social Care. The referral form can be located in ‘Forms’ on LCS. Those not already open to Children’s Social Care should be referred in via the MASH. The case will then be screened at a weekly touchdown meeting. All suitable cases will be discussed at the MACE meetings where a multi-agency discussion will determine the most appropriate course of action to manage the risk for that child. If you are unsure about this process please contact the missing and exploitation hub at: exploitationreferrals@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. For any cases where you are unsure if threshold for referral is met, please email the missing and exploitation hub for a case consultation.

Mind of My Own (MOMO)

Please be advised that we are no longer using the Mind of My Own app (MOMO). If there are any queries in relation to this, please contact Louise Mumcular (Louise.Mumcular@buckinghamshire.gov.uk) or  Michelle King (Michelle.King@buckinghamshire.gov.uk). A range of other direct work resources can be accessed here. We are exploring how to improve on the planning for, undertaking and recording of direct work as a priority over the coming months. If anyone would like to be involved or has any good practice suggestions to share, please let me know. 

Have a great week everyone. 

Palvinder Kudhail
Interim Service Director, Children’s Services
Buckinghamshire Council
County Hall, Walton Street, Aylesbury, Bucks, HP20 1UZ
Palvinder.kudhail@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 
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House Keeping


1. Please note we will be recording this session to 
be distributed to you after today’s session


2. Please turn off your mics and camera’s initially 
but once we start our discussions please do turn 
on your camera to speak with us


3. If at any point you want to raise a question 
please either put this in the message box or 
raise your hand in Teams – we want to hear from 
you! 







Tricia Lawlor


Senior Legal Assistant


Maria Martin


Senior Legal Assistant


About us







Introduction
Background and 
necessity of Age 


Assessments 







Why? What? and How?


Home Office issue 
IS97M or IS98M / 


Short Form 
Assessment


Local Authority decide 
not to assess – claimed 


age accepted


Pro Forma issued Child is ‘LAC’


Local Authority also 
have concerns and 
decide to assess


Assessment completed Outcome delivered


Claimed age accepted Child is ‘LAC’


Change of age but still 
a child Child is ‘LAC’


Adult Return to Home Office


Local Authority has 
concerns / Referral 


Local Authority decide 
to assess Assessment completed Outcome delivered 


Claimed age accepted Child is ‘LAC’


Change of age but still 
a child Child is ‘LAC’


Adult Return to Home Office







Session 1
Pre-action referrals 
for UASC Children 


Act support







Action 1 


You receive an urgent 24 hour referral


s.17 Children Act – are they a child in need in 
your client’s area?


Where is the child? Are they safe?


Are they a child? Have they been age disputed or 
age assessed?


How has this referral been made?







Lawyers 
Advice to 


Client











Short Form Age Assessment 


Short form; abbreviated; eyes on; initial screening; Merton light; abbreviated Merton
assessment – what do they mean?! What makes it lawful? Where does it come from?


R (B) v London Borough of Merton [2003] EWHC 1689 (Admin) – paras 27,28, 33, 38, 
and 56


ADCS Guidance


AB v Kent County Council [2020] EWHC 109 (Admin)


Public law Tameside duty R v Secretary of State for Education and Science ex p 
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council [1977] AC 1014 per Lord Diplock


2 age assessors


Interpreter


Clarification/Adverse Points Session (minded to session per Merton at para 56 and R 
(FZ) v London Borough of Croydon, [2011] EWCA Civ 59,)







Scenario 1
Assessed by Home 


Office as an adult by 
IS97M or short form 


age assessment 
outcome over the age 


of 23  


Decide: would a short 
form age assessment 
be appropriate? Looks 


over the age of 23 
years old or has been 
assessed to be over 


the age of 23 years old


Consider: Setting of 
Short Form Age 


Assessment
AB v Brent [2021]


Scenario 2
Assessed by Home 
Office as an adult 


with IS97M or short 
form age assessment 
outcome under the 
age of 23 and looks 
under the age of 23. 


Consider: Bring them 
in for a full age 
assessment and 
accommodation 


under s.20 


Scenario 3
Assessed by Home 


Office as an adult with 
IS97M or short form 


age assessment 
outcome under the 
age of 23 but looks 
over the age of 23. 


Consider: if the Home 
Office age assessment 
outcome is between 


18 to 23 years old  but 
they look to be over 


the age of 23 years old 
– short form age 


assessment 


NG v Hillingdon [2020]
HJ v LB Croydon [2021]


Scenario 4
Has no Home Office 
documentation but 


claims to be a 
putative child


Decide: do they look 
over the age of 23? 
Would a short form 
age assessment be 


appropriate?


Consider: Setting of 
Short Form Age 


Assessment
AB v KCC [2020]


Scenario 5
Individual is held in 
police custody for 


immigration offences.  


The individual claims 
to be a child and has 
not been assessed as 
an adult by the Home 


Office or Local 
Authority.  


Immediate 
attendance by a duty 


social – full age 
assessment or short 


form?


Possible Scenarios and Outcomes







Cases References 


AB v Kent County Council [2020] EWHC 109 (Admin)


R (NG, AL and KM) v London Borough of Hillingdon [2020] 
EWHC 2847 (Admin)


HJ (by her litigation friend) v Croydon LBC [2021] EWHC 
384


R (AB, NLK, and AD) v London Borough of Brent [2021] 
EWHC 2843


AB v Kent County Council [2021]
Please note that the case law referred to in this guidance is intended to illustrate cases that are relevant to age assessments at the time of 
drafting this guidance. This is a developing area of law, therefore, the case law is subject to change. The cases referred to in this guidance 
should be used for reference only. Should you encounter a similar legal issue, we would recommend that you seek up to date independent 
legal advice.







Session 2
Age Assessment 


Challenge 







Quality Assurance


TED questions
Tell, Explain, Describe


5Ws 
Who, What, Where, When, Why


Clarifying (closed)
e.g. was it a day, a week, a month?


Summarising (checking)
So you said…


Challenge 
Minded To







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action







Letter Before Action


C.







Letter Before Action







Q&A
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Oakwoodshire County Council 
Unaccompanied Children and Young 
People's Team  
21 Evergreen Road  
Oakwoo
d OX4 
3LX 


 
Private & Confidential 


 
Child/young person details 
Details of Person: SSY 
Family Name Y Given Names SS 
Actual DOB 3rd April 2004 Gender Male 
Ethnicity E2 - Any other ethnic group Primary Language Kurdish 
Primary Address 17 Littleford Road, 


London, 
SE23 4XY 


Telephone (Mobile 
Phone) 


07837625912 


Mobile 07837625912 
Case Number 1234567 


 
First name 


 
SS 


  
Surname 


 
Y 


  
DOB young person is 
claiming 


 
3rd April 2004 


  
Age (years) at conclusion of 
assessment 


 
16 


  
(months) 


 
10 


  
Name of first assessor 


 
Fraser Stevenson 


 
  Name of second assessor 


 
Chidi Adebayo 


  
Assessment Start Date 


 
6th August 2020 


  
Assessment End Date 


 
23rd November 2020 


1) Assessment Process 


In completing this Merton Compliant Age Assessment, the assessors met with SSY on the following 
dates: 
 
6th August 2020; 
13th August 2020; 
17th August 2020 (Minded to); 
1st October 2020 (Minded to); 
 23rd November 2020 (Outcome). 
 


            
       


 
            


        


Oakwoodshire  
County Council  
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BRIEF INFORMATION ON THE TWO ASSESSORS: Fraser Stevenson qualified as a social worker in 2003 
and is currently registered with Social Work England. He has extensive experience in working with 
children and teenagers from birth to the age of 18 years  old. In the past few years, he has gained 
experience in working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking children from different countries. Fraser 
attended LASC age assessment training in 2018. 
 
Chidi Adebayo is a qualified social worker since 2006 and registered with Social Work England. She is 
currently working with Oakwoodshire County Council undertaking age assessments. She has extensive 
experience of working in different services with children and families in various statutory settings, 
undertaking various assessments that  have been court directed. She has also worked as a Guardian. 
 
REASON FOR ASSESSMENT: Upon arrival in the UK, SSY was issued with an IS97M which means he is age 
disputed by the Home Office as being older than his claimed age but not looking  significantly over 
25.Therefore, as his claimed age is 16 years, he was placed in the care of the local authority, 
Oakwoodshire County Council, and placed with a local authority approved foster carer who is based in 
London. The  local authority also disputes SSY's age and therefore an age assessment has been 
completed. 
 
INTRODUCTION/HOUSEKEEPING: At the beginning of the initial interview (6th August 2020) and in 
subsequent interview sessions, SSY confirmed that he was well and happy for the age assessment to 
take place. This was then followed by the introduction of the attendees. The assessors clarified with 
SSY that he could fully understand the interpreter at every meeting, to which he stated he could 
understand the interpreter in his mother tongue which is Kurdish. The location of the toilet and the 
fire   exit were pointed out to all attendees. 
 
SSY was advised of the importance of telling the assessors if there was anything that he did not 
understand or if he thinks he has been interpreted incorrectly. It was also explained to him that the 
interpreter was present to help with our communication and interpret what is said, not to give advice  
or advise as to how he should answer the questions. Prior to the commencement of the interview 
sessions with SSY, the two assessors allowed SSY to have a private session with the Appropriate Adult, 
who also used these private sessions to explain her role to SSY, as well as reassure him that she was 
attending these sessions in order to support him and ensure that the assessors carry out their task in 
meeting with the Merton-compliant requirements. 
 
SSY was advised of the three possible outcomes of this assessment with regard to his age, namely 1) 
that the assessors agreed with his claimed age of 16 years (as of 3rdJanuary 2020); 2) that the 
assessors did not agree with his claimed age but concluded that he was younger than 18 years old; or 
3) that the  assessor could conclude he was aged over 18 years old and thus an adult. It was also 
explained that if SSY were assessed as being 18 years of age or older, he would be discharged from 
the care of the Local Authority and would thereafter be provided with adult support from the Home 
Office. 
 
SSY was advised that the assessors are separate from the Home Office and the detailed information 
he shares will not be passed to the Home Office or to any representative of his country of origin. 
However, the assessors will have to inform the Home Office of the outcome of this assessment via a 
proforma. SSY was made aware he could ask for a comfort break at any time and lunch time was 
agreed by all the attendees on each day the assessment was carried out. Every effort was made to 
ensure that this assessment was fully understood by SSY and that it was conducted in a way that was 
appropriate for a young person and his needs.  
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The following points were explained to SSY: 
 
1. That the assessing social workers were employees of Oakwoodshire Children's Services and have a 
different role from the Police and Home Office; 


 
2. That the result of the Age Assessment may mean a change in his recorded age and that the Home 
Office would be advised of the outcome of the assessment; 


 
3. That if he was unhappy with the result of the age assessment, he is entitled to discuss  
challenging the decision with his solicitor; 


 
4. That all information collected will be kept confidential in accordance with the Data Protection 
Act and information will not be passed to any other agency without his written consent. The only 
time information would need to be shared without his consent is if there was a serious risk to SSY 
or another  person; 


 
5. That he can ask questions at any point during the interview; 
 
6. That we would have regular breaks (after every fifty minutes) during the assessment and if at any 
time he would like to have a break to let the assessors or the appropriate adult know; 


 
7. That he can speak to his appropriate adult at any time during the assessment and alone if he  
wanted to. 


 
SSY confirmed that he was feeling fit and well and happy for the age assessment to proceed. The 
interpreter explained the information sharing document to SSY and he signed the document. During 
the process of the age assessment, SSY also allowed one of the assessors to take a passport 
photograph of  him. This photograph would be saved in SSY's electronic file and provided to the 
relevant professionals when required in future. 


2) Young Person's Claim 
 
When asked the reason for his leaving Syria, SSY responded: "because of civil war, lot of killing going 
on. It was dangerous. There was rivalry between the different militia groups”. SSY stated that these 
militia groups were fighting, and they controlled the village at  different times. When asked to 
explain what he meant by control the village, SSY stated that in order to recruit young people to join 
them the militia groups make open announcement in the market square for young people to join 
them. 
 
When asked what any of these militia groups did to him, SSY responded: "they threatened people 
who did  not join them. I felt frightened by the fighting around me." When asked if any member of 
the militia groups directly come to his home and asked him or threaten him to join their group, SSY 
stated that members  of the militia groups used to collect people to join them. Furthermore, SSY 
stated: "I was personally not approached. They announced that they will be back in two weeks' time 
and the people who did not register will face consequences." SSY stated that the membership of the 
militia groups includes boys, girls, men, and  women. But elderly persons were exempted because  







 


 Invicta Law Ltd, Priory Gate, 29 Union Street, Maidstone, ME14 1PT 
t  01622 392000   e  info@invicta.law   w  www.invicta.law 


Legal Services Support Workshop 


Age Assessment Training Material 


 
they cannot do well. 
 
SSY stated that the two week threat made by one of the militia group made him frightened. When 
asked whether his brother joined any of these militia groups, SSY responded: "my brother did not 
join, but he was  trying to help me to escape." In response to a question, SSY stated that around 
sixteen  
 
years is the age for  anybody to join the militia group. However, he later stated that 16 years is not 
necessarily the age at which people join the militia group, "but once you can carry a gun." When 
asked from the market square announcement what specific age was mentioned by the militia group 
for enlistment of new members, SSY responded: "15 years and above." When asked how far his former 
home from the village square was, SSY stated: "seven to ten minutes' walk”. 
 
3) Physical Appearance and Demeanour 


SSY's eyes are dark brown, his hair is short and black. During the interviews, SSY was observed to 
be clean, tidy, groomed and dressed in fashionable, casual clothing suitable for the current cold 
weather. SSY gave the impression that he takes pride in his appearance. 
 
At each of the interview sessions, SSY arrived at the venue wearing a face mask and, when he 
voluntarily  removed his face mask, he appeared freshly or recently shaven. However, shadowing 
was observed around  his upper lip, chin, and cheeks, indicating that he shaves regularly. 
 
Lines were also observed under his eyes and on his forehead, which again suggests that SSY is much 
older than his claimed age of 16 years, as at the time he arrived the UK. Research (WebMD: How 
your face ages: https://www.webmd.com/beauty/features/skin-ages#1 - accessed 30/08/2020) 
indicates changes to the face from the teens to early twenties, including early signs of 'motor wrinkles', 
lines and  creases related to movement first appear, with the first place they appear being on the 
brow. 
 
SSY was also observed to have a receding hairline, which is usually not associated with a teenager 
who is 16 years old. The assessors also observed that SSY had a strong jawline and a prominent 
larynx (‘Adam's Apple’). Research (Cleveland Clinic: Voice Changes: What Can They Tell You as You 
Age? https://health.clevelandclinic.org/voice-changes-what-can-theytell-you-as-you-age - accessed 
02/11/2020) indicates that, before puberty, the larynx sits higher in the neck. As these changes 
progress, it gets bigger and moves down lower. SSY's larynx was observed by the assessors to be 
significantly protruding and  lower on his neck. This can also be observed on SSY's photo that was 
taken during the course of his age assessment. 
 
SSY is of slim build but with evidence of muscular development. His physical structure looked strong 
and  well developed. His arms and legs are in proportion to his torso and he walked in a steady and 
confident manner. SSY's overall physical appearance, behaviour, maturity, and level of cognitive 
development are  not typical adolescent features but more adult-like. 
 


4) Interaction of person during assessment 


During the course of his age assessment interviews, SSY's interactions with the assessors and other 
professionals present was confident and mature. On most occasions, he maintained a calm 
disposition even when the assessors brought to his attention facts that countered his version of his 
lived experience back in his own country and prior to him arriving in the UK. 
 



http://www.webmd.com/beauty/features/skin-ages#1
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SSY took a 'one down position' within the assessment interviews, and interacted with the 
assessors, interpreters and the accompanying adults on a 'peer to peer' level. Throughout the 
interview sessions, he  appeared not to be agitated by the whole situation. 
 
When the assessors challenged SSY with relevant questions around his age and timeline, SSY did not 
show any sign of frustration, as he calmly tried to correct the assessors’ statement by stating that 
he never mentioned that he comes from a family that is among the poorest of the poor. 
 
SSY displayed maturity deemed by the assessors to be above his claimed age of 16 years. The 
assessors are of the view  that SSY's calmness towards the responses to some of the questions put to 
him is quite unusual for a young person of his claimed age. He was observed to be quite confident in 
most of his responses, even when the assessors brought to his attention some of the contradictions in 
his given responses. 
 
Based on the observations made by the assessors, we are of the view that SSY's physical appearance 
and presentation appears to be inconsistent with a young person of 16 years. SSY physical 
presentation/demeanour and interaction appears to be more consistent with a young adult who has 
completed full development, and he is more likely to be between the ages 19-23. 
 


5) Social history and family composition 


DATE OF BIRTH : On 6th August 2020, when asked his date of birth; SSY stated: "03-04-2003." In 
response to the question how he knew his date of birth; SSY responded: "my brother told me." 
However, when SSY was asked if he remembered when his brother told him about his age, he replied: 
"I do not know  when." When asked what led to him discussion his date of birth with his brother, SSY 
stated that his mother told his brother and his brother recorded it in his mind (i.e. memory). 
 
When asked if he has seen any document with his date of birth on it, SSY responded: "no." In response 
to a question; SSY stated that he did not have any document with him when he left Syria. Regarding 
if he knew whether his date of birth was registered in a government registration office, SSY stated 
that registration of birth may have been happening in other cities, but not in the town he used to live 
in. When he was asked if he had any document with him as at the time he arrived the UK, SSY 
responded: "no." 
 
FAMILY: On 6th August 2020, when he was asked about his siblings, SSY stated that he only has one 
brother, SS. SSY stated that his father's name is SY. SSY stated that his father's age is 40 years. SSY 
stated that his mother's name is VA. SSY stated that his brother SS is 22 years old. 
 
SSY stated that, prior to leaving Syria, he was staying in a village called XXXX, which is in the province 
of     XXXX. SSY stated that he has been living with his elder brother in this village, since the age of 
four  years following the death of his mother in 2007. SSY stated that since 2007, he has not seen his 
father. When he was asked how he is able to cope without the presence of his parents in his life, SSY 
responded: "neighbours helped us." 
 
SSY told the assessors that he does not have any grandparents. However, he stated that he used to 
have a paternal uncle called T, but he currently does not know the whereabouts of his uncle. SSY 
mentioned that his last face-to-face contact with his brother was on 25th May 2019. SSY stated that 
this was after his brother introduced him to the smugglers who facilitated his travelling out of Syria. 
 
When asked about the nature of his relationship with his brother, SSY stated that the relationship 
was good; he stated that his brother used to  
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look after him, cook food for him, bought food for him and collect food on their behalf from 
neighbours. SSY mentioned that his brother and him used to  
 
live in a two-bedroom house that was in a yard that had a kitchen and bathroom. SSY stated that their 
house was built with concrete blocks and they only made use of one of the bedrooms. 
 
When SSY was asked about their financial situation, he stated: "mum left some money for us and 
donations from neighbours." SSY disclosed that his brother used to work as a labourer. "We were 
managing with people’s support." SSY stated that he did not work while he was living in  Syria. 
 
In response to the question if his father used to provide financial support to his brother, SSY 
responded by saying: "no." Furthermore, SSY stated that his father does not exist in his life and he 
later advised the assessors that his parents are dead. 
 
Initially, when asked about the facilities that he had access to in his family, SSY had responded that 
they did not have anything in the house. However, he then mentioned that there was a table, chair, 
mattresses, TV, radio, washing machine, fridge, landline phone and his brother had a mobile phone. 
 
6) Developmental considerations 


ROUTINE IN SYRIA : When asked about his routine in Syria, SSY responded: "I stayed at home played  
football with friends." Furthermore, SSY stated that in the afternoon he played with his friends and 
in the evening he comes back home and relax before he goes to bed. SSY confirmed that there was 
electricity in  the village he used to live in, prior to him leaving Syria. 
 
Regarding personal hygiene, SSY stated that he can clean himself (i.e. have his bath), clean his 
clothes,  gel his hair. SSY stated that he started having his bath himself at the age of 11/12 years. 
Furthermore, SSY stated that back home he used to put his clothes in the washing and his brother 
does it for him. SSY mentioned that back home some barbers used to cut his hair for him. 
 
SSY did not provide in-depth information to the assessors in respect to his day-to date routine before 
and after he left his home country. The assessors deem this to be an attempt by SSY to avoid 
providing the assessors information that give relevant clues about his timeline and past lived 
experiences. 
7) Education 


When asked if he has had any formal education, SSY replied: "No. I did not attend madrassa (i.e. 
Quranic school). We had a clergyman, but he did not specialise in teaching. I attended the mosque 
to pray." SSY stated that his mother taught him how to say basic verses of the Quran, before he was 
four years old. When asked how he was able to remember this, SSY stated: "my mother started and 
my brother continued with the teaching." 
 
In response to the question if he could write in any language, SSY responded: "No. I can only write 
my name and father's name. My brother showed me how to do this." When asked why he did not 
attend formal education, SSY stated: "because of our financial condition and because my brother did 
not want me to go to school. My brother used to go to school when my mother was alive and stopped 
after my mother died." 
 
When asked if he used to have friends who were attending school, SSY responded: "some of my 
friends went, some did not." When asked how he felt when some of his friends were attending school, 
SSY responded: "I would like to go. But I was not able to because of financial situation." 
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In response to the question how he kept himself busy since he did not attend school, SSY stated that 
after 1.00pm or 2.00pm, he would go out and play football with his friends. "I tidy up the house in 
the morning." When asked if he learned a trade or did any vocational training while in living in Syria; 
SSY responded: "I did not go to school how can I learn this thing." 
 
ACCESS TO EDUCATION IN SYRIA: Regarding the issue of access to education, research indicates 
the following: "Syria has a good basic education system. Since 2000 the Government of Syria has 
significantly increased the expenditure on education 1 to 6. In 2002, elementary and primary 
education were combined into one basic education stage and education was made compulsory and 
free from grades 1 to 9. Education is free and compulsory from ages 7 to 15. Arabic is the medium of 
instruction in the Syrian Arab Republic. English and French are taught from grade 1 in the basic 
learning stage as the primary second language." 
(https://www.k12academics.com/Education%20Worldwide/education-syria, accessed 30/109/2020). 
However, on 1st October 2020, SSY advised the assessors that his brother and him were not aware that 
education is  free in Syria. 


8) Journey Details 
 
On 13th August 2020, SSY advised the assessors that he discussed with his elder  brother about his 
leaving the country, as his brother felt that it was no longer safe for him to remain there. SSY stated 
that he started the journey from his village and they set off in a car on 25th May 2019. SSY  mentioned 
that this was the last day he saw his brother face-to-face. 
 
SSY stated that they started the journey in a car, but the smuggler that his brother contracted was 
in another car, as he stated that the smuggler had to organise another group of travellers. SSY 
stated that they travelled for four hours in the initial car and they then dropped off in the jungle 
and they walked for  half an hour and were handed over to another smuggler. The new smuggler put 
them in a van that had about 15 persons inside. 
 
SSY stated they went to Istanbul and he knew he was in Istanbul because everybody was talking that 
they are taking us to Istanbul. When he was asked if he encountered the immigration or Police 
Officers on his way from Syria to Turkey, SSY stated: "they put blanket on top of us to prevent the 
authorities from seeing us." In response to the question how long he spent in Istanbul, SSY stated 
that he was in Istanbul until January  2020. SSY stated that he did not know the owner of the flat he 
lived in while in Istanbul. SSY stated that  the other persons living in the flat provided him with food 
as they (other persons) were working. However, SSY stated that he did not work while he was living 
in Istanbul. 
 
When asked how he kept himself busy in the six/seven months that he spent in Istanbul, SSY stated 
that he spent most of the time in the room and when he went out he did not go far. 
 
SSY mentioned that he left Istanbul in a lorry. However, when he was asked if he knew the  countries 
he passed through, SSY stated: "I do not know." As he stated that the driver and the persons in the 
front of the lorry where the persons in control of the journey. SSY stated that the driver and the 
persons in front of the lorry did not disclose to him the countries they passed through until they 
arrived in the England. Furthermore, SSY stated that he did not understand the language that the 
driver and his accomplice were speaking 
 
When asked if it is the lorry he entered in Istanbul that brought him to the UK, SSY stated that he did 
not know as it was dark. SSY mentioned that before they get to the check-point they (driver and  
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accomplice) ask us (lorry passengers) to come down from the lorry and after they finish the business 
at the check-point, another lorry came and picked them up to continue their journey. "I did not know 
if it was the same  lorry that drove me from Turkey, as the lorry was filled with boxes." 
SSY stated that he got into the UK (Dover) in a truck (i.e. lorry). As he stated that one of the 15 
persons inside the lorry with him, used the map in his phone to know that they have arrived the UK. 
SSY stated that on arriving the UK, he was put in the group of under-18 and his fingerprint was taken. 
When he was asked if he was fingerprinted in any other country on his way to the UK, SSY answered: 
"no." 
9) Independent/ self-care skills 


On 6th August 2020, when asked if he can cook, SSY responded: "no. Nobody showed me." SSY stated 
that his brother used to cook the breakfast (bread and yogurt and egg), neighbours delivered lunch 
to them at home, and sometimes they used to buy lunch from local shop. When asked his role in 
meal preparation when his brother used to cook at home, SSY responded: "I have never prepared or 
know how to prepare eggs." Furthermore, SSY stated: "nobody has showed me how to cook." 
However, SSY stated that he would be interested in learning how to cook. 
 
SSY mentioned to the assessors that he has razor that he uses to shave his beards once a week at 
home, but the barber usually do the boundary (i.e. lining) for him. SSY told the assessors that he 
started shaving the "scanty hair" on his face in 2019. 
 
Regarding food, SSY stated that rice biryani is his favourite food. SSY also stated that he likes eating 
Dolma, kebab, as well as chicken and chips. 
 
SSY advised the assessors that he does not get regular pocket money, apart from money for his 
haircut and when he asks his foster carer for money. SSY stated that on two different occasions, he 
has gone out with his foster carer to buy his clothes. SSY stated that he spends his pocket money on 
buying chips and biscuits. When he was asked if he could count money; SSY replied: "no." SSY stated 
that he takes whatever people give back to him, when he gives them ten or five pounds. "I take what 
I am given." SSY stated that he does not know if he has a bank account in the UK. The reason this 
bank account question was asked is to find out if SSY's current foster carer have started preparing 
SSY for independent living. 
 
Finally, SSY stated that he feels safe living in his current home and he feels happy living in the UK. 
10) Health and medical assessment 


On 6th August 2020, SSY stated that he has suffered from stomach infection in the past and this 
happened  five years ago. When asked if this stomach problem has happened again since he arrived in 
the UK, SSY stated that it happened two weeks ago. SSY stated that his social worker contacted the 
GP. SSY also stated that his foster carer is aware of this. SSY stated that because of his stomach 
condition doctor in Syria advised him not to smoke, drink Coca cola and eat spicy food. SSY stated 
that he currently does not experience any problem with sleeping and he does not have any worry. 
 
SSY stated that he is aware of the precautions he is expected to take in order to avoid contracting 
Covid-19. SSY mentioned that no member of his family suffers from any major illness. SSY stated that 
he has not been admitted into hospital in the past and the injuries he had suffered from in the past 
were play related ones. SSY mentioned that there was a Health Centre in his village. SSY stated that 
he did not suffer from any major illness during his journey from Syria to the UK, apart from having a 
sore throat. 
 
SSY has completed an Initial Health Assessment which indicated that there were no major health  
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concern about his physical and mental health. Given that he arrived just before the lockdown in 
March 2020, his foster carer advised SSY of the need to follow the health guideline that would ensure 
that he did not contract Corona virus. However, SSY initially struggled with having to stay indoors 
most of the time, as he wanted to visit some of his friends he met while staying in the jungle in Dover. 
As these friends were accommodated in a hotel that is not too far from the home address of SSY's 
foster carer. 
11) Documentation feedback and Information from other sources 


On 4th January 2020, a representative of the Chief immigration Officer in Dover wrote an IS97M letter 
to SSY and the letter reads below: "you have claimed asylum in the United Kingdom. Although you 
have claimed that your date of birth is 3rd April 2004, you have failed to produce any satisfactory 
evidence to substantiate this claim and your claimed age has not been accepted. However, since your 
physical appearance and demeanour does not very strongly suggest that you are 25 years of age or 
over, the Home Office will treat you according to  the processes designed for handling asylum claims 
from children, until further evidence becomes available. This does not mean that the Home Office 
has accepted your claimed age. We will take a full decision on your age when all available evidence is 
collected, including the opinion of the relevant local authority." 
 
"Until a full decision on your age is made the age assigned to you in Home Office records and in 
documentation issued to you, will be the age you claim to be. The local authority may not necessarily 
treat you as this age pending a full decision on your age, if they believe that their legal duties require 
them to treat you as a different age during this period. If a local authority has made/makes a finding 
on your age, the Home Office will request a copy of the local authority's reasons for reaching that 
particular finding in order to help determine your age for immigration purposes. If the information 
provided by the local authority also reveals other information relevant to your claim for asylum we 
may take this into account when determining your asylum claim." 
 
On 21st June 2020, Mary Wood (social worker) stated that for SSY was allocated to her by Team 
Manager (Sarah Davison) on the 23rd of May 2020. "I have seen SSY on two separate occasions as listed 
below: 
 
Initial home visit (virtual)- 30/05/2020. Statutory Home 
Visit- 18/06/2020." 
 
SSY's physical observation is that of a young adult with facial hair. He is tall and slim, of petite size 
and his  voice tone is that of a young adult male. SSY was polite and calm during the statutory visits. 
SSY presents as a young person who is confident when spoken to and he is able to hold and engage in 
discussions with adults. He maintains eye contact, and at times was observed to answer some 
questions even before the interpreter can explain certain statements to him. 
 
Regarding his health, in his Initial Health Assessment (IHA report), it is recorded that SSY is: 
 
Height: 157 cm. 
Weight: 50.3 kg. 
Head Circumference (if needed): 58.4 cm  
BMI value: 20.4  
 
SSY has been observed to be a very confident, outspoken person. He was comfortable sitting with me 
(Mary) alone without the support of his foster carer during the virtual visits. SSY is physically active 
and enjoys playing football. SSY said because he is new to the UK, he attends College and plays  







 


 Invicta Law Ltd, Priory Gate, 29 Union Street, Maidstone, ME14 1PT 
t  01622 392000   e  info@invicta.law   w  www.invicta.law 


Legal Services Support Workshop 


Age Assessment Training Material 


 
football in the local park and this is how he spends his days. 
 
In his IHA, it is recorded that SSY is "involved in house chores, gardening, active, goes to the park with 
this foster family or other young person in the placement. Understanding of money- £10 pocket 
money weekly. Buys things from the shops- coca cola and crisps. This prompted a healthy eating 
discussion." 
 
SSY stated that he never attended school prior to arriving in the UK. He attended the local mosque to 
pray but did not attend Islamic school. Since being placed with his foster carers he is learning ESOL. 
When asked how he is finding college, he reported that he likes it because he wants to learn English 
and knows that without adequate knowledge of the language, he cannot attain higher in life. 
 
SSY commented that he can meet his basic care needs daily. He can make himself breakfast, he 
states  that he can't cook complicated dishes, he can use the hoover and can clean his room. SSY 
changes his  bedsheets himself. He goes to college by himself and returns home alone. SSY has a bus 
pass that he uses. 
 
SSY does not have any evidence that can prove that he is 16. He said that he has never had any kind of 
ID. "From my experience as a social worker with over 11 years' experience of working with children 
and families, I am of the view that SSY is older than his claimed age due to the reasons already stated 
out above such as his physical appearance and demeanour. His physical appearance clearly indicates 
that he is not a child”. 
 
SSY shaves and yet denies this fact. He was also age disputed by Home Office official as a person who 
is older than 18 years but under 25 years old. I am also aware of the guidelines for age assessing UASC 
that it is  dangerous to base the assessment of age only on factors such as physical appearance and 
demeanour. However, I have given consideration to the view that there are varying differences to the 
ages when young person can start having beards due to ethnic differences and cultural reasons." 
 
My assessment of SSY leads me to believe that he is older than 16 years old and therefore not 
suitable to  remain in foster care and under the care of SUASC Duty Team. 
 
On 2nd May 2020, Jennifer Robinson (I.R.O.) stated that she is SSY's am the Independent Review 
Officer (I.R.O.) allocated to SSY. "I have chaired his Child in Care Review meetings on: 23rd January 
2020 and 12th March 2020." 
 
"I have not met personally with SSY as safety measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have 
been in place since his arrival in the UK. I have only spoken to SSY by phone with support from an 
interpreter on  23rd January 2020 and 12th March 2020." "I have also spoken with SSY's foster carer, 
Mrs Jones, on these dates. 
 
"When SSY was initially placed with his current foster carers, his foster carer, Mrs Jones, provided 
the  following information to me on the 23rd January 2020:" 
 
SSY has a TV in his room for his sole use. In the main he watches football and sport on TV. Carer has 
had to ask him to switch off the TV when he is still watching it after 12am. During the past week, 
the weather has been particularly pleasant and warm and she has invited SSY to spend time outside 
in the garden. He has ventured out into the garden once or twice, then returned indoors. "SSY is not 
particularly interested in being outside / spending time with the family. SSY is becoming increasingly 
frustrated about  not being able to go 'out and about' in the community. He has little understanding or 
acceptance of the need to comply with instructions given to all living in UK to remain in their home  
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and not socialize outside of their home." 
 
"SSY does smoke and is confident that he will be able to purchase cigarettes for himself if given 
money to make this purchase. SSY has met some other young people who were apprehended with 
him at Dover - these young people live in a hostel located close to where the foster carer lives and 
SSY has been to visit his friends living at the hostel. Carer is concerned that if SSY does not adhere to 
strong advice regarding social distancing and not socializing / visiting people who do not form part of 
his household, he will be placing himself and members of her family at risk and she may need to 
consider whether placement can be continued. I.R.O. suggested that she discuss this issue with her 
fostering support social worker. 
 
Carer informed that her husband has noted that SSY is able to make use of a keyword. SSY already 
knows how to use various programmes on the TV and she was surprised to hear today that SSY has not 
attended any education. 
 
Use of laptop / computer: "Carer informed that under normal circumstances, this would not be an 
issue, but currently her children are all home, not attending classes at their school and making 
extensive use of the family  computer to complete learning tasks set for them. She will however look 
into making at least an hour a day available for SSY to have access to the computer." 
 
When IRO spoke with SSY's carer again on 12th March 2020, she reported: "SSY is more settled and 
carer has no concerns with regard to him; he is participating in family activities and more 
understanding of restrictions - although in recent weeks these have been eased and he is enjoying 
more freedom. SSY has had a number of interviews with his solicitor. His health assessment has been 
postponed  until 17th March as an interpreter could not support SSY with his appointment. No online 
learning taking place at present." 
 
"SSY arrived in the UK on 4th January 2020, having left Syria. He reports that both his parents are 
deceased, and he lived with his older brother prior to leaving Syria. SSY travelled through Turkey and 
France before arriving in the UK. He has no family / friends living in UK. SSY is currently not engaged 
with formal education. But he has learned some English words. SSY is a quick learner." 
 
However, in respect of SSY's age, the assessor noted that the I.R.O. comment: "none." This means that 
the I.R.O. does not want to give her view regarding SSY's claimed age. 
 
On 23rd May 2020, Mrs Jones (foster carer) stated: "SSY is from Syria and his behaviour and 
interactions are somewhat different to a child born in the UK. This could also be due to him having 
to mature earlier and become independent from a younger age as his parents died when he was very 
young.  
 
His mannerisms sometimes can come across as an older person but this could be due to his Syrian 
culture and him having to grow up quicker and without his parents”. I have seen SSY get upset and 
emotional on a few occasions due to trivial matters which could indicate that  he is 16 years old and 
still maturing emotionally. His physical appearance seems young but I can see that he looks as though 
he has been through tough and stressful times. I  
 
feel he could be 16 or 17 years of age and the above is what I have observed so far. SSY has some 
facial hair and body hair. He is a very shy boy and also very polite and well mannered. His dress sense 
has improved since being with us." 
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On 26th May 2020, Jennifer Robinson (Independent Reviewing Officer) stated: "I am unable to express 
a view on this young person's age. I have detailed observations and experiences of this young person 
as provided by his carers, social workers allocated to him and discussions I have held with him prior to 
and during his review meetings. You will note that all my contacts with this young person have been 
telephonic or via video link – I have not met with him in person”. 
12) Minded to Meeting 


"MINDED TO" SESSION FOR SSY  
 
We have met with you on two different occasions to date and we have asked you several questions as 
part of this assessment. You have provided us with your responses/answers. However, upon looking 
at all the information we have gathered to date we have further questions to help us clarify some 
areas with gaps within the information you have provided us with. This includes the Information 
provided by your social worker, foster carer and I.R.O. 
 
1) Can you tell us the date of birth you provided to the Home Office staff upon your first day of 
arrival in the UK?. Please can you tell us your age on the day you arrived in the UK? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : 03-04-2003. 
 
I was 16 years and eight months. 
 
2) Can you please reconfirm how you knew your date of birth? Have you ever seen any document 
with your date of birth written on it? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : My brother told me. 
 
No. I have not seen any document. 
 
3) Do you remember the date you left your village in Syria to start your journey to the UK? (the month, 
date and year, if possible or approximately). 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : 25-05-2019. It was 01-05-2019, I left my village on that day as my brother took me  to 
a farm and introduced me to somebody who will help me to get out of the country. 
 
 4) On the day you arrived the UK, you told Home Office staff that when you left Syria you travelled to 
Turkey by crossing the border illegally on foot. However, on 13th of May 2020, you told the assessors 
that you travelled in a car for 4 hours. What is your view about this? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : Even with the car it was still illegal. First, we were put in a car and then we walked 
for half an hour and there was a pick-up waiting for us. We waited and a van came and picked us up. 
The van took us to Istanbul. 
 
 5) Can you remember when last you last saw your brother in person/face to face? On 13th August 2020 
you told us that you left Syria on 25th May 2019 and you spent 6 or 7 months in Turkey. How many 
days, weeks or months did it take you to get to the UK from Turkey? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : On 1st May 2019, when he introduced me to the agent. I left Syria on 25th May  2019 
and I arrived UK on 3rd January 2020. 
 
When he was asked if his last response to the question was a rough guide; SSY replied: "I am pretty  
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sure of  my response. When I got to the UK, the interpreter told me it is the 3rd January. 
 
When he was asked how he knew it took him six months to get from Turkey to the UK; SSY replied: 
"I  stayed six months in Turkey because several failed attempts were made to get out of Turkey. But 
the last attempt was successful. 
 
When he was asked how many days, weeks or months he estimate that it took him to get to the UK 
from Turkey; SSY replied: it took between five to six day. But I am no sure about it. As we were in the 
back of the lorry." 
 
6) Do you remember the date your arrived in the UK? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : 03-01-2020. 
 
7) The picture that we have presented to you, have you seen it before? Do you know who is in the 
photograph. This was taken when you arrived at the port of entry. How would you describe your facial 
hair in this photograph? You described to us about "scanty hair" on the day you arrived the UK, but 
from this picture your beard and moustache appeared to be like that of a full-grown man. Have you 
got any comment/ your view about this? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : "It is myself." 


I explained before that I did not shave or go to the barber because we were not allowed to go out 
because of  fear of being arrested by the Police. This is why my facial hair was like this. 
 
I left the hair (i.e. facial hair) to grow that is why it is quite visible on that photo. 
 
8) How often do you shave the "scanty hair" on your face? Do you know the year that you started to 
shave? Do you consider yourself to be a very hairy person? How often do you need to shave? Do you 
do it yourself? Or who does it for you? Do you own a saving kit, if you do it yourself? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : Once a week I would say. When I go to the barber for the lining and I shave at 
home. 
 
The assessors asked SSY to put his finger and show us where in the side of his face that he starts to 
shave  from. SSY did so and it indicated the upper area of his sideburns. 
 
When asked how often he visits the barber, SSY replied: "once a month for haircut. Regarding the 
side bit, SSY stated: "once a week when I see it is time to shave. So, I want to look clean and 
fresh." 
 
When he was asked if he considers himself to be a hairy person; SSY replied: "yes. I have 
hair  everywhere." SSY on his own volition showed us his harm that showed some hair. 
 
When he was asked if he own a shaving kit or equipment; SSY replied: "I have razor and shaving kit." 
 
9) Can you tell us why you did not attend formal education or any religious school in Syria? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : My family could not afford sending me to school. The bit I learned about Islam, I  
learned from my brother. 
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10) How do you consider your family (that is yourself and your brother) in Syria in comparison to 
other families in the community, that is okay, managing financially, averagely okay, poor or 
struggling to survive? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : I would say we were poor because we barely managed to survive. As brother could 
not send me to school. Other members of the community were helping us financially. 
 
11) From what you told us about the financial situation of your family, your family does not appear 
to be as poor as you may want us to believe. What is your view? 


Prior to answering this question, SSY requested that the assessors should remind him about what he 
said before he said before about his family. One of the assessors stated that he disclosed to us 
that before his mother died she left some money for them, they had a TV at home, a fridge, 
washing machine, landline telephone and his brother had a mobile phone. 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : They were really basic stuff that everybody needs. "I never said we were the 
poorest of the poor. I never knew how we got this stuff at home; it was always there." 
 
12) Can you tell us if it is the same lorry that you travelled in from Turkey that brought you to the UK? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : I am not sure about that because most of the time we were in the back of the 
lorry. Sometimes we had to get out of it because of the Police. "For me all lorries are the same. I do 
not know if it is a different or the same lorry." 
 
13) On 13th August 2020, you told us that when your arrived the UK, you were separated into the 
under 18  group, if the staff of the Home Office believed you were less than 18 years old, how 
come they decided to dispute your age? 


SSY'S RESPONSE : I am not aware of the reason for their challenging my age. When I told them my 
age, they accepted it and found me a family that takes care of young boys. 
 
14) Do you know if the truck that you arrived in the UK (Dover) in, was on a boat/ship or came to 
the UK by  road? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : Because the truck was shaking it looks like we were on the sea. That is the only  
thing I know. 
 
15) Your social worker is of the view that you are older than your claimed age, what is your view about 


this? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : I told my social worker my true age. As I told her that my brother had told me my 
date of birth. So, I do not know why she is thinking like that. 
 
16) Can you tell us at what age do the rebel groups force people to join them? How come you left 
Syria before you attained the age? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : As far as I know it is the age of 16 onwards. When they came, they said that in two 
weeks' time I have to join them. I was among the group of people they told that we have to join 
them in two weeks’ time. 
 
When he was asked how come he left Syria before he attained 16 years; SSY replied: "my brother  
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was worried about my safety. That is why he took me to the farm and linked me up with the agent 
that will get me out of the country. 
 
17) Why did your older brother not flee Syria because of the threat of the rebel group(s) with you? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE: He could not pay for his trip and mine. 
 
18) On 6th August 2020, you told us your mother's age, as well as your brother's age, Can you please 
reconfirm these ages again? Please think carefully. Do you think you knew your mother's age? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : My mother's age was 37 years at the time she died. My brother told me so. My 
brother's age is 22 years. 
 
When he was asked to confirm if everything his brother tells him is true, SSY responded: "yes of course, 
he is my brother and I believe him." Furthermore,  
 
when he was asked if his brother has ever lied to him; SSY responded: "he is my brother. I think he 
never lied to me”. 
 
13) Views of young person 
 
On 1st October 2020, a second Minded To session was held with SSY. As this session provided SSY the 
opportunity to clarify some adverse responses he had provided to the assessors in the past. 
 
1. Can you explain why you did not attend any type of formal school in Syria? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : As I stated before my brother could not afford the school fees. As my parents had 
died and because we are a poor family, we could not afford it. 
 
2. From the research we have undertaken, we know that education is free and compulsory in your 
country. What is your view on this? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : As a child I was not aware of that and even my brother was not aware of this. What 
I know is that my brother did not send me to school. 
 
When he was asked if he was the only one in the area that did not go to school, SSY stated that in 
the village there were some (i.e. parents) who did not send their children to school and there were 
some who sent their children to school. In response to the question if his older brother attended 
school, SSY stated that his bother used to attend school. But he stated that his brother stopped 
attending school after their parents died. 
 
3. The home you were living in whilst living in Syria, whose home was it? 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : The house belong to my parents and after they died, we were living in that house. 
 
In response a question about his family home, SSY confirmed that it was a two-bedroom house, that 
had a bathroom and toilet. Furthermore, he mentioned that the house was made of mud and straw. 
 
4. Do you smoke? Where do you get your cigarettes from? If you can walk into a shop and buy your 
own cigarettes this indicates that to the shopkeeper, you look more than 18 years old. Any  
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comment? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : I used to smoke, but I stopped smoking after I arrived in the UK. 
 
When asked if he is saying that since he arrived in the UK, he had never smoked cigarette, SSY 
answered: "yes." In response to the question regarding the country in which he last smoked cigarette, 
SSY  responded that the last country he smoked cigarette in was Turkey. SSY stated that he could not 
smoke after he left Turkey, because he was inside the back of a lorry. When he was asked if he 
smoked cigarette in Syria, SSY answered: "yes."  
 
When asked how old he was when he started smoking cigarettes, SSY stated that he does not 
remember exactly. But he thinks it was four years ago. When he was  asked about his age four years 
ago, SSY stated: "I think I was 12." 
 
When SSY was asked how he was able to buy cigarettes, SSY stated that he was smoking secretly 
because he did not want his older brother to know about this. He mentioned that he used to 
contribute money with another of his friends and they then buy the cigarette. SSY stated that he used 
some of the pocket money that his brother used to give him to buy cigarettes. When he was asked 
how much pocket money that his brother used to give him, SSY stated that his older brother used to 
give him some Syrian pounds. When he was asked that giving out pocket money is not a practice that 
is common among people that are poor, SSY stated that the fact that his older brother used to give 
him pocket money does not mean that "we were really poor. Giving money is what a brother gives to 
a brother. Financially we were not too poor, but we were not rich, we could manage. We did not pay 
rent, my brother used to work, neighbours used to give us food, as a goodwill gesture." 
 
When SSY was asked the reason why his older brother was working occasionally and not all the time, 
SSY stated that his brother used to work as a construction worker, who worked when a house is being 
built. When he was asked if his older brother earned enough money to maintain both of them, SSY 
responded: "yes." When he was asked that he was not as poor as he earlier told the assessors at the 
beginning of this assessment, SSY stated that he would maintain what he said earlier in respect of his 
brother providing food to the house when he was able to do so and neighbour supporting them with 
food as well. When he was asked  if neighbours did not bring to them would his brother and him be 
able to feed, SSY responded: "yes, we could have been able to feed." SSY then stated that his 
parents left some money behind for them and his  brother used this money to send him to Europe. 
 
When he was asked which is cheaper to do: "sending somebody to school or sending somebody to 
Europe?" SSY responded that his brother told him not to worry about the money. "The main thing is 
for me to leave the country." When he was asked why his bother did not use the money that their 
parents left behind to send him to school, SSY stated he does not know why exactly his brother did 
not send him to school. "It was his  (i.e. older brother) decision to send me abroad, instead of 
sending me to school." 
 
When he was asked if it is fair to say that he (SSY) attended school in Syria but he is trying to claim 
he did not do so, SSY shrugged his shoulders and stated that if he attended school in Syria, he would 
not hide it. Furthermore, SSY stated that he did not know the details of the free and compulsory 
education. "Maybe it did not cover our area. I do not know." When he was asked that while staying in 
Syria he had access to means of communication (i.e. radio, TV and mobile phone) and how come he 
did not hear about free education even when people pass on information by word of mouth. SSY 
stated that he did not listen to the radio or watch television, as he spent most of the time outside 
playing with his friends. SSY stated that he used to watch TV in the evening. "My brother watched TV  
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more than me." 
 
5. Have you made friends since you arrived in UK? Where are they from? What do you do together? 
Do you  know the ages of the friends you have made? 


 
SSY'S RESPONSE : SSY responded that he made friends at the College. When he was asked if he has 
made other friends outside the college, SSY answered: "No." SSY stated that he has not made any 
other friend apart from the other young person in the home of his foster carer and he plays football  
 
in the park with this other young person. When he was asked if he used to visit some of his friends 
outside the placement, SSY stated that sometime after he arrived at the placement, he went with his 
foster carer to a barber and he met some Kurdish boys who were staying in a hostel that is not far from 
the house of his foster carers. SSY confirmed that some of these Kurdish boys were inside the same 
lorry that brought him to the UK. When he was asked how often he used to see some of these Kurdish 
boys, SSY stated that after their first meeting, he only met these boys on one other occasion. SSY 
stated that he did not exchange mobile phone numbers  with these Kurdish boys and they have 
already left the hostel. 
 
When SSY was told that it was noted that in March 2020 he was not complying with the lockdown 
protocols as he wanted to go and spend time outside the house with his friends, SSY stated that it was 
true. As he mentioned that he told his foster carers that it (i.e. lockdown) was quite difficult to bear. 
"When I went to see my friends, I did not tell them I was going to do so. I told them I was going to 
the market." SSY stated that he told his foster carers that he needed cigarette and he went to the 
market and bought a packet of cigarette. SSY stated that he used the excuse of going to the market 
to get out of the house. SSY stated  that after smoking one of the cigarettes in the packet outside the 
house and he smoked another inside his room; he gave up  
 
smoking. This he stated was after he was told off by his foster carers for smoking inside the house. 
SSY further stated that he had the other 16 cigarettes inside the drawer in his room. 
 
When asked where he bought the cigarette from, SSY stated that he bought the cigarette near a 
local shop near the barber's shop which is not far from the house of his foster carer. When he was 
asked if he showed the shopkeeper his ID card when he went to buy cigarette, SSY answered: "no. I 
did not have any ID, I asked the shop owner and he gave it to me." When he was told that for him to 
walk into a shop and be given cigarette the shopkeeper may have looked at him and concluded that 
he is over 18 years old, SSY responded: "the most important thing for the shopkeeper is to collect 
money. I had money with me and the shopkeeper needs money." 
 
. Social Foster carer's feedback to be shared with YP. 
 
SSY'S RESPONSE : SSY stated that his foster carers are taking good care of him as the government  asked 
them to do. 
 
When he was asked if he agrees with his foster carer views about his age, SSY stated that he agreed 
with the views of his foster carer regarding his age. 
 
14) Overall Conclusion 


Person’s age is assessed 
as  


 21 years old 
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Date of birth is assessed 
as  


3rd April 1999 


Reasoning for day, month, and year 


 
As part of completing this assessment, the assessors took into consideration various sources of 
information gathered: 
 
i) FEEDBACK FROM HOME OFFICE : The assessors requested for information from the Home Office 
and this feedback has been included within the views of professionals' section of this age assessment 
report. 


ii) INFORMATION RECORDED ON SSY'S CASENOTES: The information obtained from SSY's case notes 
indicate that upon his arrival to the UK on 3rd January 2020, SSY advised the Home Office staff that 
his date of birth is 3rd April 2004, which made him to be 16 years old on the day (3rd January 2020) 
he applied for asylum in the UK. 


iii)VIEWS OF PROFESSIONALS : In the process of completing this age assessment, the assessors 
gathered information from relevant professionals (foster carer, the Home Office, I.R.O. and his 
allocated social worker). 


2) INCONSISTENCIES AND CREDIBILITY : There were numerous significant inconsistencies in the 
information that SSY provided to the assessors during the assessment sessions, and these in the 
assessors opinion seriously undermine the credibility of his account of his life experiences and 
age. These inconsistencies include: 
 
SSY'S ACCOUNT OF NOT HAVING ATTENDED A FORMAL SCHOOL OR MADRASSA (QURANIC SCHOOL) : 
On 6th August 2020, when SSY was first interviewed by the assessors he stated that he did not attend a 
formal school or a madrassa and he only went to the mosque to pray. SSY stated that he did not 
attend formal school because of the financial situation of his family and his brother not wanting him 
to go to school Furthermore, during his first Minded To session that was held on 17th August 2020, SSY 
maintained his stance in respect of his family not being able to afford to send him to school (see SSY's 
response to question 9, in this Minded To Meeting). However, checks by the assessors revealed that as 
far back as 2002, the Syrian government made provision for free and compulsory education for all 
Syrians who are under the age of 15 years. When the result of this finding was made known to SSY on 4 
October 2020, SSY stated that he and his brother were not aware of this government free education 
policy. SSY further stated that this policy could have been implemented in other parts of the country 
and not in the area he used to live in, while he was living in Syria. There was never a time during this 
assessment that SSY mentioned that he went to bed hungry. From our work and from our own personal 
experience, the assessors know that one of the indicators of poverty is going to bed hungry and not 
knowing where your next meal is going to come from. Given the scenario stated in the previous 
paragraph, the assessors wonder how come that SSY did not attend a formal school when it was free 
and compulsory in Syria? As a child, if SSY was not sick and not hungry why did he spend the whole of 
his childhood cleaning a two-bedroom house, which he claimed had nothing but basic household items 
inside it. In the assessors opinion, the information provided by SSY regarding his life as a child, his lack 
of schooling, his time spent at home cleaning a two bedroomed house, day after day is not plausible. 
 
SSY'S VIEW THAT HIS FAMILY WAS POOR : During his age assessment interview and his Minded To 
session, SSY maintained that his family was poor and his older brother and him were dependent on 
the generosity of their neighbours in order to survive. However, when the assessors challenged him 
about this, SSY stated that he did not mean that his family was the poorest of the poor. on 1st 
October 2020, SSY  confirmed that the assessors impression was correct as he stated that his family 
was not poor and they were not rich. This in fact means that SSY is from a middle class family, as  
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he confirmed that the two bedroom house he used to live in while in Syria belong to him and his 
brother, as they inherited it from their parents. The  assessors belief is further strengthened by SSY 
stating that his brother was working and the family was still able to buy some meals from the shops. 
SSY also self-reported that his late mother left some money for them before she died. Furthermore, 
SSY disclosed that his family had household gadgets which include a TV, fridge, washing machine 
and landline telephone), as well as his brother owning a mobile phone. This lead the assessors to 
question SSY's claim of poverty preventing him from going to school. 
 
DURATION OF SSY'S TRIP FROM ISTANBUL TO ENGLAND: During his assessment interviews, SSY 
stated to the assessors that it took him about five to six days to get to the UK from Istanbul (Turkey) 
by  lorry. Given that this journey is over 1500 miles and it involved driving through more than five 
countries. The assessors are of the view that SSY is not providing the full information in terms of 
the length of time it would take to get to the UK by lorry or the countries that he would have to 
have passed through undetected on his journey to the UK. The assessors views is based on the fact 
that SSY and his travelling group had no visa and any means of formal identification documents that 
would have supported their journey to pass through the border check-points of the countries he 
stated that their lorry passed through. 
 
MODE OF TRANSPORTATION SSY USED IN ENTERING THE UK : During his Minded To session that was 
held on 17th August 2020, SSY stated that he did not know if it was the same lorry that he entered 
in Turkey that took him to the UK (see SSY's response to Minded to question 12). The  
 
assessors deem this to be an implausible response. SSY would definitely have known if he had 
completed the journey in one vehicle or whether he boarded different vehicles to travel the 1500 
miles from Turkey to the UK. The assessors view SSY's response as being closed and lacking in any 
real detail or explanation, in his response to this particular question. 
 
SSY'S VIEW OF WHY HE HAD TO LEAVE HIS VILLAGE: In the second week of January 2020, SSY  told 
staff of the Home Office that he wanted to claim asylum in the UK because his life was in danger due 
to him being at risk of being recruited by the militia group that was fighting the Syrian government. 
However, on 6th August 2020, when he was asked by the assessors if any member of the militia group 
directly came to his family house to ask him or threaten him to join their group; SSY stated: "I was 
personally not approached." Furthermore, he stated that they (militia group) announced that they will 
be back in two weeks' time and those people who do not register will face the consequences. Before 
that SSY explained to the assessors that the militia group make open announcement at the village 
market square, which he later stated is 7 to 10 minutes' walk from his family home. However, on 17th 
August in response to question 16, SSY stated that he was among  the group of people that they 
(militia members) told to join them in two weeks' time. The assessors are of the view that there is a 
distinct difference between "I was personally not approached" and his latter statement that he was 
among the group of people they told will have to join them in two weeks' time. Whilst the local 
authority do not have an interest directly in terms of SSY’s reason for claiming asylum, the 
information shared with the Home Office and the local authority will be considered when considering 
the credibility of a timeline and life story provided by an individual. The assessors consider there are 
inconsistencies with the information provided by SSY to the Home Office and then to the local 
authority when assessing his age. 


SSY'S VIEW ABOUT FREE AND COMPULSORY EDUCATION IN SYRIA : On 1st October 2020, SSY 
reconfirmed to the assessors that he did not attend school in Syria because his brother could not 
afford to pay the school fees. However, when the assessors brought to his attention the fact that our 
research showed that since 2002 education has been free and compulsory in Syria, SSY responded; "as 
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a child I was not aware of that and even my brother was not aware of this." Furthermore, SSY also 
stated: "maybe it  (i.e. free and compulsory education) did not cover our area, I do not know." SSY also 
stated that he was not aware of the Syrian government free and compulsory education programme 
because he did not use to listen to the radio or watch TV, because he spent most of his time outside 
playing with his friends. However, SSY had previously explained to the assessors on 9 October 2020 
that he tidied up the house in the morning and played with his friends in the afternoon. The assessors 
are of the view that SSY's explanation of being poor or him and his brother not knowing about the 
government free education policy is not plausible. The assessors believe that this is an attempt by SSY 
to wipe out proportion of his life timeline that cover his education in his country of origin. 
Furthermore, the assessors are of the opinion that even in the so called "Third World" countries, 
government programmes of this nature (i.e. free education) are spread by words of mouth from 
persons to persons. As a result, the assessors are strongly of the view that SSY has deliberately to 
withhold valuable information in response to the question he was asked about his lack of his 
attendance any kind of education in his country of origin. 


HOW SSY GOT TO KNOW ABOUT THE RECRUITMENT ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE MILITIA GROUP : On 6th 
August 2020, SSY told the assessors that he was not approached or personally threatened by any 
member of the militia group to join them. SSY stated that members of this militia group made an 
announcement in the yard of the mosque. However, SSY later mentioned that his family home is 
seven to ten minutes' walk from the mosque. To the assessors, even with a younger person sensitive 
hearing, it would be almost impossible for SSY to hear an announcement that was made at least seven 
minutes' walk from his family home. 
 
SSY BUYING CIGARETTE IN THE UK WHEN HE IS SUPPOSED TO BE A MINOR : On 1st October 2020, SSY 
advised the assessors that he started smoking cigarette while he was staying in Syria. But his claim 
that he stopped smoking cigarette when he arrived the UK is contradicted by the information that his 
foster carer provided to the I.R.O. The fact that SSY was able to walk into a shop and buy cigarette in 
a UK shop without being questioned indicates that he presented as a person above 18 years. 
 
BEARD AND MOUSTACHE: On 6th August 2020, when asked if he had facial hair growth, SSY 
answered: "no." However, he mentioned that before arriving the UK, he had some "scanty hair." SSY 
stated that he had this "scanty hair" shaved. SSY clearly stated that he has not grown beards or 
moustache before. SSY further described the position of the "scanty hair" by pointing to his upper 
sideburns. SSY stated that he started shaving his scanty hair once a week since 2019. Regarding the 
condition of his face on the day he arrived the UK, SSY stated that there was very little moustache 
and beards on his face on the day he arrived the UK. On 13th August 2020, SSY advised the assessors 
that he only cut his hair in Turkey on one occasion and that was four months before he arrived the 
UK. But on 17th August 2020, after SSY was showed a picture of how his hair and face looked like on 
the day he arrived the UK, SSY stated that he allowed his hair to grow that long because he was not 
allowed to go out while staying in Turkey because of fear of arrest by the Police. When the assessors 
compared SSY's two pictures, the first being the one that was taken on the day of his arrival to the 
UK and the second being the one that was taken during his age assessment interview, the big 
difference is SSY's shaven beards and moustache. When we looked at the two pictures closely, the 
assessors concluded that SSY did not simply have a fine shaving requirement but a full shaving 
requirement. Whilst his hair on his head on arrival is longer in the picture, his facial hair is very 
obvious and not described as a scanty shaving need. This is an indication of SSY not being open and 
honest in his response to the question he was asked regarding his self-care needs. 
 
DEVELOPMENTAL CONSIDERATION/PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS: Although not a single determinative  
factor, SSY's physical and secondary sexual characteristics are prominent and he appears older than 
his claimed age of 16 years. The assessors observed SSY's receding hairline SSY's tone of voice which 
has already broken. SSY also has a prominent Adam's Apple. Having an Adam Apple is an indication  
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That SSY is not at the beginning of his adolescent years. SSY present as an adult in the way he 
related to the professionals, in the confident way he responded to the questions he was asked, and 
in his behaviour at home and in the local community. This make the assessors to strongly question 
SSY's claim that he was 16 years old as at the time (January 2020) he claimed asylum in the UK. 
 
The assessors have considered all the information available to them within this assessment. SSY 
took an  active part in the assessment, which was held at the office of Greenside Fostering Agency 
(London). SSY's physical, emotional and cognitive development, as well as his interaction and 
demeanour during the assessment were considered by the assessors not to be consistent with that of 
a teenager who is currently 16  years old. The assessors opinion is mirrored by the observations of 
SSY's allocated social worker. There were numerous inconsistencies in SSY's account of his life 
experiences. SSY's account of the reason he fled Syria, the reason he did not attend formal 
education or madrassa, his "scanty hair," the financial situation of his family, his avoidance in 
providing a clear timeline in respect of his response to some relevant questions and the fact that 
he may have been coached on how to answer the questions he was asked. These inconsistencies 
were brought to SSY's attention and some were clarified during the Minded To sessions  held on 
17th August 2020 and 1st October 2020. 
 
CONCLUSION: After duly considering the totality of the information from SSY, the views of other 
professionals (social worker and foster carer) and his Social Services case notes, the assessors are of 
the view that SSY was trying to create an account of his life experiences that is based on the 
foundation of a false date of birth in order to seek a favourable asylum decision outcome. Hence at 
the conclusion of this age assessment, the assessors consider that SSY is within the age range of 19 to 
23 years, with his most likely  age being 21 years old with assessed Date of birth 3rd April 1999. 
 


Form to be handed to the person assessed 


ASSESSMENT CONCLUDED 
ON 


23rd November 2020 


NAME SSY 


NATIONALITY Syrian 
CLAIMED AGE (YEARS) 16 


(MONTHS) 10 


CLAIMED DOB 3rd April 2004 


LOCAL AUTHORITY 
UNDERTAKING 
ASSESSMENT 


Oakwoodshire 


ADDRESS 21 Evergreen Road, 
Oakwoodshire, 
OK4 3LX 


LEAD ASSESSOR Fraser Stevenson 
SECOND ASSESSOR Chidi Adebayo 


FINAL DECISION OF AGE Over 18 


(YEARS) 21 


(MONTHS) 10 
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		HOW SSY GOT TO KNOW ABOUT THE RECRUITMENT ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE MILITIA GROUP : On 6th August 2020, SSY told the assessors that he was not approached or personally threatened by any member of the militia group to join them. SSY stated that members of this militia group made an announcement in the yard of the mosque. However, SSY later mentioned that his family home is seven to ten minutes' walk from the mosque. To the assessors, even with a younger person sensitive hearing, it would be almost impossible for SSY to hear an announcement that was made at least seven minutes' walk from his family home.

		SSY BUYING CIGARETTE IN THE UK WHEN HE IS SUPPOSED TO BE A MINOR : On 1st October 2020, SSY advised the assessors that he started smoking cigarette while he was staying in Syria. But his claim that he stopped smoking cigarette when he arrived the UK is contradicted by the information that his foster carer provided to the I.R.O. The fact that SSY was able to walk into a shop and buy cigarette in a UK shop without being questioned indicates that he presented as a person above 18 years.
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Overview of session
Speakers:


Antonia Benfield, Barrister, Doughty Street Chambers
Helen Johnson OBE, Head of the Refugee Council’s Children’s Section
EdwardTaylor, Solicitor at Osbornes Law


- Overview of the current position on age dispute claims, the role of the
Refugee Council and direction of travel in age dispute claims


- Current case law position: short form assessments; HO assessments; interim
relief and fact-finding hearings


- Best practice in preparing age dispute claims: pre-action, JR claim and fact-
finding


- Questions and discussion.







Challenges to age assessments of separated children 
and young people 


Doughty Street, July 2021


Helen Johnson, Head of Children’s Services, Refugee Council







Role of the Refugee Council 
re age disputed young people
• Variety of services to children and young people.


• Largest service is Children’s Advice Project (CAP), works nationally. 
Home Office funded. Attends age assessments as appropriate adults, 
but since April 2021 has been prohibited from working proactively on 
any age matter. 


• Age Dispute Project does specifically work with young people who we 
believe to be children but who are being treated as adult as the result 
of a decision by the Home Office and/or a local authority.







Background


• The Home Office publishes statistics on age disputes but these must be 
regarded with a great deal of caution. The stats below refer only to age 
disputed applicants who the Home Office refers to a local authority for 
assessment, they do not include those who the Home Office believes to be ‘25 
years or over’.


• https://media.refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/06/15071458/Children-in-the-Asylum-System-May-2021.pdf


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020


Applicants disputed 929 716 875 798 732



https://media.refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/15071458/Children-in-the-Asylum-System-May-2021.pdf





Stats


• We have repeatedly asked the Home Office to report on outcomes of 
age cases. 


• We only know of the cases we know of – there is no published figure 
on how many disputes are raised, and at what stage, by whom, and 
how many young people are then accepted as children, and at what 
stage.







Stats


• ADP has 1.8 members of staff. New referrals:


• April: 15
• May: 23
• June: 90


• On top of large existing caseload.


• 2019/20, 135 children accepted as such.







Background


• Many social workers across the country are doing an excellent job in 
very challenging circumstances – by definition you tend to see where 
things go wrong. 


• Not all young people we meet know their own age, or tell the truth 
about their age. A humane but robust approach is needed at times.







Our work


• Best interests of the child / young person.


• Difficult decisions need to be made. Settling a case which gives a child the 
‘wrong’ age can be very damaging for them, but on balance can also be the 
right thing to do. 


• Protracted delays infect other parts of the young person’s life, most 
obviously in relation to asylum decision making. Also important to consider 
the impact on the individual in relation to memory / mental health / 
credibility / participating positively with the rest of their life. 


• Settling a case should be explored from the start, and again at any 
opportune moment. 







Home Office asylum decisions and age


• https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assessing-age-
instruction


• ‘If the age of the claimant is material to the decision on the claim, the 
decision must be delayed whilst a full decision on their age remains 
outstanding.’



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assessing-age-instruction





Our work


• Meet the young person. Take a view. We can be wrong.
• If no local authority assessment, refer to local authority where 


putative child is in need – sometimes this is enough. Once being 
looked after as a child, CAP colleagues can pick up other support 
issues. 


• If a local authority has already undertaken an assessment, then in 
most cases legal representation is needed in order to challenge that 
decision. 


• Act as a litigation friend.







Our work


• Ongoing liaison with young person and solicitor. Aiming to ensure that the 
right decisions are made at the right time, and that the young person 
understands what is happening.


• Preparing for court as necessary – for ourselves and for the young person. 


• Celebrating when age is accepted – and having very difficult conversations 
with the young person when this doesn’t happen. 


• Working to influence policy and practice, through casework, through 
training, through engagement with local and national government etc.







Future


• No obvious solution world-wide – no-one can accurately tell age -
hence the need for clear guidance for all involved, and an acceptance 
of doubt. 


• Solicitors and barristers play a crucial role in the development of good 
practice by all, and in holding us all to high standards. 


• Thank you – comments and questions very welcome at the end of the 
session.
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Current position on legal challenges –
Antonia Benfield, Doughty Street Chambers


• Merton as a term of art
• Short-form assessments
• Home Office age assessments, including Kent Intake Unit 


(KIU)
• Interim relief applications – recent case law and procedure
• Fact-finding hearings in the Upper Tribunal (IAC)
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Requirements of Merton compliant assessments
Recent case of R (AB) v Kent County Council [2020] EWHC 109 (Admin), court summarized the
requirements for a lawful and fair age assessment in the following terms, similar to the framework in VS v The
Home Office [2014] EWHC 2483 (QB):


Purpose of the assessment
(1) The purpose of an age assessment is to establish the chronological age of a young person.


Burden of proof and benefit of the doubt
(2) There should be no predisposition, divorced from the information and evidence available to the local
authority, to assume that an applicant is an adult, or conversely that he is a child.
(3) The decision needs to be based on particular facts concerning the particular person and is made on the
balance of probabilities.
(4) There is no burden of proof imposed on the applicant to prove his or her age.
(5) The benefit of any doubt is always given to the unaccompanied asylum-seeking child since it is recognised that
age assessment is not a scientific process.


Physical appearance and demeanour
(6) The decision maker cannot determine age solely on the basis of the appearance of the applicant, except in
clear cases.



https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2019/109.html

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/QB/2014/2483.html
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(7) Physical appearance is a notoriously unreliable basis for assessment of chronological age.
(8) Demeanour can also be notoriously unreliable and by itself constitutes only 'somewhat fragile material'.
Demeanour will generally need to be viewed together with other things including inconsistencies in his account
of how the applicant knew his/her age.
(9) The finding that little weight can be attached to physical appearance applies even more so to photographs
which are not three-dimensional and where the appearance of the subject can be significantly affected by how
photographs are lit, the type of the exposure, the quality of the camera and other factors, not least including the
clothing a person wears.


Conduct of the assessment
(10) The assessment must be done by two social workers who should be properly trained and experienced.
(11) The applicant should be told the purpose of the assessment.
(12) An interpreter must be provided if necessary.
(13) The applicant should have an appropriate adult, and should be informed of the right to have one, with the
purpose of having an appropriate adult also being explained to the applicant.
(14) The approach of the assessors must involve trying to establish a rapport with the applicant and any
questioning, while recognising the possibility of coaching, should be by means of open-ended and not leading
questions. Assessors should be aware of the customs and practices and any particular difficulties faced by the
applicant in his home society.
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(15) The interview must seek to obtain the general background of the applicant including his family circumstances and
history, educational background and his activities during the previous few years
(16) An assessment of the applicant's credibility must be made if there is reason to doubt his/her statement as to
his/her age.
(17) The applicant should be given the opportunity to explain any inconsistencies in his/her account or anything which
is likely to result in adverse credibility findings.


Preliminary decision
(18) An applicant should be given a fair and proper opportunity, at a stage when a possible adverse decision is no more
than provisional, to deal with important points adverse to his age case which may weigh against him. It is not sufficient
that the interviewing social workers withdraw to consider their decision, and then return to present the applicant with
their conclusions without first giving him the opportunity to deal with the adverse points.


The decision and reasons
(19) In coming to the conclusion the local authority must have adequate information to make a decision independent of
the Home Office's decision.
(20) Adequate reasons must be given.
(21) The interview must be written up promptly.
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Short-form age assessments
• Short form; abbreviated; eyes on; initial screening; Merton light; abbreviated Merton assessment – what do they mean?!


• What is the current guidance?
• What is required in terms of procedural fairness in a short form assessment?
• How to challenge them?


Local authority short form assessments


R (B) v London Borough of Merton [2003] 4 All ER 280
• [§27] Of course, there may be cases where it is very obvious that a person is under or over 18. In such cases there is


normally no need for prolonged inquiry; indeed, if the person is obviously a child, no inquiry at all is called for
• [§38] In an obvious case, the appearance of the applicant alone will require him to be accepted as a child; or,


conversely, justify his being determined to be an adult, in the absence of compelling evidence to the contrary.


ADCS Guidance:
In some rare circumstances, it will be very clear that the individual is an adult well over the age of 18, so prolonged
inquiry may not be required, as stated in the Merton judgement. Even in these rare circumstances when you are making
a relatively quick decision, you are still undertaking an assessment, albeit a brief one, and you must record the rationale
for your decision as well as share your decision with the individual being assessed.
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Short-form age assessments
BF (Eritrea) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2019] EWCA Civ 872
• visual age assessments by the Home Office “physical appearance and demeanour strongly suggests that you are


significantly over 18 years of age”
• Policy unlawful as it failed to take account of the margin of error in visual assessment (5+yrs). HO


withdrew and reissued their polity to “significantly over 25” but the case is currently in the UKSC
R (AB) v Kent County Council [2020] EWHC 109 (Admin)
• Lawfulness of abbreviated LA assessments
• Public law Tameside duty. Essential to take account of the margin of error; minimum standards of inquiry


and fairness; benefit of the doubt. AB assessed to be 20-25 was too close to 18 for the benefit of the doubt
not to be given.


R (HJ) v London Borough of Croydon [2021] EWHC 66 (Admin)
• Reliance upon a short form AA after HJ moved to another area.
• Court held there must have been doubt as to whether the AA was case law compliant as there had been


no recognition of the margin of error; the purpose of the assessment was not explained; no reasons; no
minded to; no appropriate adult.


R (K) v Milton Keynes Council [2019] EWHC 1723 (Admin) – challenge to failure to conduct a Merton
compliant assessment dismissed, ”obvious case”, K later found to be a child on full assessment
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Short form age assessments
• Requirements of fairness:


– Depends on the facts of the case.
– In all cases, the purpose of the AA should be explained; if credibility is in issue 


adverse points should be put; Tameside duty applies; a suitable interpreter is 
required; as is a suitable location (see Joint Working Guidance / ADCS)


– Sometimes an appropriate adult is required; consideration of information from 
other sources; country information; trafficking or trauma


• Routes of challenge:
– Could be brought as a challenge to the refusal/failure to conduct a full Merton


compliant assessment on lawfulness and rationality grounds
– Alternatively, under A v Croydon jurisdiction to determine age.
– Threshold in the latter is lower and permission more achievable.
– Consider AA; reasons; evidence and delay.







t. 020 7404 1313
w. www.doughtystreet.co.uk
t. 020 7404 1313
w. www.doughtystreet.co.uk


Home Office Age Assessments
• The Home Office is often the first authority who meets a separated


child and often is required to make a decision on age for the purpose
of asylum routing or detention


• Assessing Age Policy (v4.0) – sets out procedure for IO decisions
on age. To treat as an adult, 3 routes:
– LA Merton compliant assessment finds 18 or over
– Two HO staff consider physical appearance and demeanour very strongly


suggests that they are 25 years of age or older
– There is credible and clear documentary evidence that they are 18


years of age or over
Otherwise, should be referred to a LA for a Merton compliant assessment
and given the benefit of the doubt and treated as child in the interim.



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/947800/assessing-age-asylum-instruction-v4.0ext.pdf
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Home Office Age Assessments
• In reality, often very quick decisions that have a high margin of error.
• Issued as an IS97M which states: “The Home Office’s determination of


your age does not prevent you from approaching your local authority’s
Children’s Services department with a view to them undertaking their own
assessment of your age.”


• Focus of challenges are often on the refusal of a LA to act on a
referral after the HO has disputed age and dispersed to NASS
accommodation in their area.


• If the HO decision leads to a decision to detain, or to treat an
asylum claim as inadmissible under the Immigration Rules, can bring a
challenge against HO – or in other cases include as an interested
party or second defendant.
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Home Office Age Assessments: KIU
• Since September 2020, the Home Office has operated a policy


whereby embedded social workers, employed by the HO, conduct
short form age assessments at KIU, often when putative children
have been detained following entry to the UK by boat.


• KIU social workers will be asked to assess if:
– Claiming to be a child but physical appearance and demeanour very strongly


suggests 25 or over
– Reason to doubt age, but not deemed 25 or over


• KIU SWs should review the HO decision on age; provide their view
to KIU and conduct a short form assessment


• HO often relies upon KIU assessments to dispute age, even though
they state they are not Merton compliant and often find children to
be under 25 years of age



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/947646/kent-intake-unit-social-worker-guidance-v2.0-gov-uk.pdf
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Home Office Age Assessments: KIU
• Challenge currently in Administrative Court: MA & HT v Coventry


City Council & SSHD (CO/428/2021 and CO/524/2021) challenging
lawfulness of KIU assessments, lawfulness of KIU policy and of
detention pending AA – substantive hearing 20/21 October 2021.


• MA assessed by KIU to be 20, and HT as 21.
• Assessments are conducted without any safeguards; often on day of


arrival; while detained.
• Arguably incompatible with the Assessing Age policy and the


permissible routes to treating a person claiming to be a child as an
adult; i.e. not a Merton compliant assessment and not over 25.


• Issues of ambiguity of IS97Ms issued following KIU assessments
which impact on LA referrals.
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Interim relief
• When to apply?


– in most cases the client will be a child at the date of the JR claim and ensuring support
under s.17 and 20 CA 1989 is extremely important, as is ensuring preservation of any
leaving care entitlement.


– important to ensure age-appropriate education and health care and protect against
safeguarding risk in NASS and risk of dispersal acknowledged in R (NG, AL and KM)
v London Borough of Hillingdon [2020] EWHC 2847 (Admin).


• An application for interim relief. should therefore be sought in most cases, either prior to
consideration of permission or with a request for expedition.


• Reality test your case.
• Keep in mind the Hamid jurisdiction and recent cases of R (DVP & Ors) v SSHD [2021]


EWHC 606 (Admin) and In the Matter of the Court's Exercise of the Hamid
Jurisdiction (Re An Application for Judicial Review) [2021] EWHC 1895 (Admin)



https://www.doughtystreet.co.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/Approved%20judgment%20-%20R%28NG%29%20v%20HIllingdon%20and%20others.pdf

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2021/606.html

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2021/1895.html
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Interim relief
• What to seek?


– Mandatory order that the LA support and accommodate under CA 1989, in accordance with
the client’s claimed age, pending determination of their age by the court.


– If seeking an immediate order pre-permission, consider whether whether an immediate order is
required and be realistic about what being sought (forthwith/as soon as possible/practicable/x
days)


– Important to get the client into care but then also to scrutinize whether the LA is in fact
discharging the order and treating as claimed age under CA 1989. Often, children may be held
in assessment centres with no provided with education.


• Local authority lines of defence:
– Arguments on costs (over stretched budget/detracting from funding for others) and risk (of


client to other children)
– NASS is not that bad / sufficient
– The claimant is almost an adult (e.g. 17) or no particular vulnerabilities
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Interim relief: useful caselaw and guidance
• Statutory guidance: Care of unaccompanied and migrant children and child victims of modern


slavery, November 2017 – definition of a child (p.5-6) ”where a person’s age is in doubt, they must be
treated as a child unless and until, a case law compliant age assessment shows them to be an adult” – R (S)
v LB Croydon [2017] EWHC 265 (Admin)


• ADCS Guidance, October 2015 - “where there is doubt about whether or not a young person is a child,
the dangers inherent in treating a child as an adult are in almost all cases far greater than the dangers of
taking a young adult into your care.” – contrast with R (M) v Ealing LBC [2016] EWHC 3645 (Admin),
“the risks associated with having to accommodate someone who is an adult with children are far more severe
and troubling than the other way round where the individual is, even on his case, within four months of
becoming an adult”


• R (BG) v Oxfordshire County Council [2014] EWHC 3298, at §39: “the risk of injustice in which one
of the scenarios is that the claimant is treated as a child in the interim but ultimately fails on the substantive
challenge but where, on the other hand, the claimant continues to be dealt with as an adult alongside other
adults and is subsequently vindicated at the substantive hearing and found to be a child”


• R (KA & NBV) v LB Croydon [2017] EWHC 1723 (Admin) at §48: “in most, if not all cases, the ‘status
quo ante’ is a case like this is the status quo ante the impugned decision, not the status quo ante the
application for interim relief”



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656429/UASC_Statutory_Guidance_2017.pdf

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2017/265.html

https://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/Age_Assessment_Guidance_2015_Final.pdf
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Interim relief: useful caselaw and guidance
• R (Talash) v London Borough of Croydon [2018] EWHC 2138 (Admin) 


– 16 yr old, Afghan in possession of a Taskira. Pre-permission – arguability threshold met and IR ordered.
• R (AS) v Liverpool City Council [2020] EWHC 3531 (Admin)


– No hard and fast rule on a strong prima facie case [§13].  Pre-permission IR granted, “firmly in favour of a 
grant of interim relief” [§22]


• R (LYB) v Kent County Council [2021] EWHC 663 (Admin)
– Claimed to be 16, assessed to be 20.  Grant of permission, reliance on BG to find balance of convenience in 


favour of IR
• R (AH) v Kent County Council [2021] EWHC 878 (Admin) 


– Pre-permission, AH turned 18 prior to IR hearing, IR granted acknowledging the importance of leaving care
• R (A) v Manchester City Council [2021] EWHC 1872 (Admin)


– 17 yrs 8 months old, assessed to be “in his twenties”.  LA argued that A was capable of independent living 
and there would be prejudice in the expenditure of resources [§31]. Balance “falls squarely in favour of the 
grant of interim relief” [§32], not necessary to show s strong prima facie case.


• R (AXA) v LB Hackney [2021] EWHC 1345 (Admin) – pre-permission, claimed 16, assessed 21-25.  Resources 
of LA deemed relevant, risk to other children (M v Ealing), nature of NASS accommodation.



https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/AXA-v-Hackney-BC-FINAL-Judgment.pdf





t. 020 7404 1313
w. www.doughtystreet.co.uk
t. 020 7404 1313
w. www.doughtystreet.co.uk


Interim relief: useful caselaw and guidance
• R (NG,AL and KM) v London Borough of Hillingdon [2020] EWHC 2847 (Admin)
Considered the position of three putative children (all aged 17) where LB Hillingdon had agreed to conduct age
assessments and accepted that pending assessments, they should be treated as putative children but said there was no s.20
duty to accommodate because they were housed in a hotel by NASS and therefore did not require accommodation. LA
said it could discharge s.17 duties while they stayed at the hotel. The LA said they had commissioned key workers to
support the children but permission was granted, and IR ordered with the court noting:


[§8] – good arguable case that Council is failing to discharge and side-step its statutory duties
[§10] – NASS accommodation is not set up to cater for the needs of children and young persons.
[§11] - hotel staff had not been trained in safeguarding and there was no evidence they had enhanced DBS checks.
[§13] – took account of practical difficulties with daily living; lack of prompt medical care; lack of education.; lack of
English made it difficult to communicate their needs.
[§18] – this was a significant departure from past practice of local authorities and impacted on the ability to acquire
leaving care support.
[§19] - there is a risk of dispersal where there may not be any facilities in place and education and welfare support
may be disrupted.
[§23] – there are budget and resources considerations for the council if “NASS foots the bill” but there is no
prospect of the claimants being able to compensate the council even if it were to defeat the claim.
[§24] – the risk to the wellbeing of the claimants weighs more heavily in the balance, and the potential harm to them
cannot easily be remedied.



https://www.doughtystreet.co.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/Approved%20judgment%20-%20R%28NG%29%20v%20HIllingdon%20and%20others.pdf
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Fact-finding hearings
• Upon the grant of permission, almost all cases are transferred to the Upper 


Tribunal (IAC) pursuant to s.31A(3) of the Senior Courts Act 1981
• As held in R (FZ) v LB Croydon [§31]:


“….The Administrative Court does not habitually decide questions of fact on contested
evidence and is not generally equipped to do so. Oral evidence is not normally a feature
of judicial review proceedings or statutory appeals. […] The Upper Tribunal has sufficient
judicial review jurisdiction for this purpose under section 15 of the 2007 Act and by
article 11(c)(ii) of the First-tier Tribunal and Upper Tribunal (Chambers) Order 2010, SI
2010 No. 2655. Transfer to the Upper Tribunal is appropriate because the judges there
have experience in assessing the ages of children from abroad in the context of disputed
asylum claims…”


• The CPR however does not apply (although can be referred to as useful 
guidance e.g. relief from sanctions)


• Procedure Rules and Practice Directions 



ttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/926554/consolidated-ut-rules-20200721.pdf

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/practice-directions-iac-dated-18-dec-2018.pdf
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Fact-finding hearings
• Standard case management directions following transfer from the


Administrative Court:
i. Parties to serve on all parties all documents relevant to the determination of


age and date of birth and, file a list of documents with the UT (28 days) –
from Applicant (immigration) from Respondent (social care)


ii. Parties are to file and serve relevant witness statements within 28 days of
disclosure of (i)


iii. 14 days thereafter, parties to notify the names of witnesses they seek to call
to give oral evidence (presumption that assessing social workers will not give
oral evidence)


iv. CMRH on FAD 13 weeks after directions are sent.
• 7 days before CMRH – parties to file an agreed statement of facts and


issues
• Failure to comply with directions may result in costs / strike out.
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Fact-finding hearings
• Current situation is that FFHs are hybrid, with Applicant and any witness who


requires an interpreter to attend in person and others remote
• Timetable is strictly applied – a party is required to make an application for


an extension of time/relief from sanctions
• The UT is open to diverting from the standard time frame if there is a need


e.g. for expert evidence
• Round table meetings are required under directions and the conduct of the


parties and the extent which they have engaged to further the overriding
objective, including any attempt to reach a resolution of the claim and to
narrow the issues, will be considered by the Tribunal when it considers any
application for cost.


• Whereas a litigation friend is required to issue proceedings in the High Court, R
(on the application of JS and Others) v Secretary of State for the Home
Department (litigation friend – child) [2019] UKUT 00064 (IAC), sets out
guidance for the UT.



https://tribunalsdecisions.service.gov.uk/utiac/2019-ukut-64
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Fact-finding hearings – the reality
• The primary focus in a FFH on the account A gives and credibility
• Non-reporting of determinations makes it difficult to assess the


consistency of approach: unreported determinations.
• Judges are in the main careful not to stray into the territory of a


young person’s asylum / trafficking claim
• Application of Joint Presidential Guidance No.2 of 2010,


child, vulnerable adult and sensitive appellant guidance.
• Be aware that a UT determination is a judgment in rem, consider


whether preferrable to seek to establish age in asylum claim:
Rawofi (age assessment – standard of proof) [2012] UKUT
00197 (IAC)


• Be creative, cautious and collaborative.



https://tribunalsdecisions.service.gov.uk/utiac

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/ChildWitnessGuidance.pdf

https://tribunalsdecisions.service.gov.uk/utiac/37479





Best Practice in Preparing Age 
Dispute Cases


- Pre-Action work
- Preparing a Claim for Judicial Review
- Getting Ready for Fact-Finding Trial


Edward Taylor
Associate
Osbornes Law







Case Study: Sensible steps immediately following 
instruction


You are contacted by Ben, a foster carer for Mohammed. Ben explains 
that Mohammed needs advice to challenge an age assessment of Brent 
Council which has found him to be 21 rather than 17. You see 
Mohammed the next day. Mohammed does not have a copy of the 
assessment document. He has been told that he will shortly be moved 
to adult Home Office accommodation. He remembers that during the 
interviews he was supported by an appropriate adult from the Refugee 
Council. He also provides the details of his immigration solicitor. 


What initial steps come to mind?







Case Study: Sensible steps immediately following instruction
- Urgent correspondence to Brent’s lawyers, requesting the assessment document, SW notes and to address the 


threat of removal from care (LAs take different approaches, but as a minimum he should not be moved until 
assessment is produced).


- Send a SAR to Brent’s data protection team, requesting a copy of Mohammed’s social care file. It’ll take a 
month (or longer) but best to get the request in early, and diarise to chase once the 1 month statutory deadline 
arrives.


- Write to the Refugee Council requesting a copy of the appropriate adult’s interview notes. 


- Write to the immigration solicitor, to touch base and to request copy immigration papers especially any child 
welfare form, screening interview record and any statement submitted to the Home Office for asylum 
purposes.


- Try to obtain an opinion from the foster carer, Ben, setting out how long he has looked after Mohammed and 
what his observations are, including in relation to Mohammed’s age. Tactically it can be best to seek an opinion 
informally via email at this early stage, so you at least have something from him (the prospect of formal witness 
evidence might scare him off..). 


- Explore with Mohammed and also with Ben who else has been involved in Mohammed’s life since he arrived 
into the UK. Has he been going to school/college? Has he been attending any clubs? Does Ben have a partner? 
Has Mohammed formed any close friendships with others of his age? You can then seek their opinions too 
(good idea to call first to gauge if helpful).







Case Study: Pre-action work continued… 


You have received Mohammed’s age assessment document, which you 
have read through. Mohammed is from Eritrea. You note that during 
his journey to the UK he was in Germany for 2 years where he was 
fingerprinted and claimed asylum. You also note that Mohammed has 
contact with family members through WhatsApp. You have also read 
the appropriate adult notes which record Mohammed saying that there 
might be a document at home showing his date of birth, although this 
is not reflected in the assessment document. 


What next steps come to mind?







Case Study: Pre-action work continued… 
- Discuss with Mohammed what happened while he was in Germany; did he provide the German 


authorities with his date of birth or with some other date of birth, was he treated as a child during his stay 
there (living with other children, going to school etc.), was he subjected to any form of age assessment or 
medical testing, and would he be willing to sign a request for information/documents to send to the 
German immigration/asylum authorities (a request under Article 15 GDPR). It is best to make GDPR 
requests at the earliest possible stage, or if the client does not wish for such request to be made you can 
seek to address concerns and manage expectations in terms of how this may affect his prospects of 
success, such that it may even make the claim not strong enough for full legal aid funding provision.


- Ask Mohammed whether it would have been possible for the age assessors to speak with his family 
members before reaching their decision, and whether the family members would have been able to 
confirm his age/date of birth. If so, would Mohammed be comfortable with you arguing this in the Letter 
Before Claim, and if the assessment is maintained would he be comfortable with you contacting the family 
members?


- Ask Mohammed to speak with his family members to see if there are any documents to support his 
age/date of birth, and if so to send photos of the same to him through WhatsApp.


- Preparation of a Letter Before Claim under the Pre-Action Protocol – this should plead the decision being 
wrong as a question of fact, as well as the legal flaws with reference to the facts and relevant Merton 
framework.







Case Study: We have to go to Court! 
Mohammed agreed to sign a GDPR request, with confidence that the German authorities had his claimed 
date of birth. The request was sent 1 week ago and awaits response. You used the format recommended on 
the ICO website, adapting where necessary to reflect the circumstances of the matter. 


Meanwhile, Mohammed has been moved from care and is now accommodated with adults by the Home 
Office in Derby. He is scared, sits in his room all day and is experiencing sharp pains in his stomach. 


Brent has responded maintaining its age assessment even though Mohammed had obtained a photograph 
of a medical document from his family members through WhatsApp (showing his DOB), which has been 
disclosed to Brent. The original is on its way to the UK, having been posted by Mohammed’s brother to your 
office. The 3 months limitation deadline is not for another 8 weeks. What should you do next?


- Keep time on your side, and act with urgency if you are going to be asking the Court to act with urgency in 
an interim relief application. 


- Apply for certificated funding on an emergency basis in light of Mohammed’s removal from care and 
circumstances. The application should be determined by the LAA within 2 working days. Do as much as 
you can in the meantime under Legal Help (does anything need chasing?).


- Once funding is in place, instruct Counsel right away, and work together to urgently prepare the claim and 
interim relief application. 







Case Study: Preparing the client’s evidence for Court 
Bearing in mind the FZ permission test, the better prepared Mohammed’s factual case is, the better chance there is of 
permission being granted, and of course those prospects follow onto the Upper Tribunal into the fact-finding arena. You 
should: 


- Prepare a detailed witness statement for Mohammed working chronologically through his life, such that it hopefully 
chronologically supports the age he is now. It is a good idea to use headings to help break up the statement, for 
instance:


- (after introductory paragraphs) “My life so far”. This could contain sub-headings dealing with Mohammed’s life in 
Eritrea, why he had to leave and his journey to the UK.


- “How I know my age/date of birth”
- “Problems experienced during the age assessment”
- “Why I am asking the Court to return to Brent’s care until my case is decided”


- If possible, speak with Mohammed’s family members by phone or through WhatsApp calls, with interpreter assistance, 
the content of which could be set out in a solicitor witness statement so that the information is before the Court.


- At this stage and if not already done so, follow up on opinions obtained so far from third parties, to see if those 
individuals will give formal witness statement evidence, and if so to prepare the same. If not, at least you hopefully 
have their opinions recorded in other form, which you could put before the Court as exhibits to a solicitor witness 
statement perhaps with their communications about not wanting to give formal evidence (if it’s because of the LA, for 
instance putting pressure on the foster carer Ben not to get involved, you could write to their lawyer warning that if 
they do not reassure Ben to give formal evidence you will bring that position to the attention of the Court). 







Case Study: You are ready to issue the claim
You have finalised Mohammed’s witness statement evidence, and Counsel agrees that the claim should 
be issued as quickly as possible to reflect that it is urgent and appropriate to apply for interim relief. 


In the meantime, you have not yet heard back from Germany in relation to the GDPR request although 
there are still 2 weeks to go until the 1 month deadline lapses. You are also still yet to receive the original 
medical document in the post. Counsel has addressed these matters and the case in detail in the 
statement of facts and grounds for judicial review. 


You are now preparing the N461, N463 and JR bundle. What considerations should you have in mind?


- The Court recently emphasised the importance of properly preparing the N463 application for urgent 
consideration. It is not acceptable to make general references paragraphs in the statement of facts and 
grounds. Each section needs to be completed with care, and should be approved by Counsel.


- New Practice Directions have been issued, including in relation to the preparation of the application 
bundle and with respect to seeking interim relief.


- Make sure to comply with the duty of candour, which is summarised in section 14 of the Administrative 
Court Guidance. It is for this reason that you wrote to the immigration solicitor in the first place… and 
then chased… immigration/asylum documents relevant to age (including the young person’s 
chronology) fall to be disclosed.







Case Study: We’ve issued – Can I have a break now? 
Cases like this are quite front-loaded, so you’ve definitely earned yourself a break by now… but 
Mohammed’s original medical document has just arrived at your office and you want to inform the 
Court of this because within the next couple of days you are expecting a decision on interim relief. 
You are mindful that the Judge will consider the strength of the claim in the context of the balance of 
convenience exercise. You are also conscious of the duty of candour. You therefore write to the Court, 
copying in the other side. 


The next day you receive an order from the Court granting your interim relief application and 
abridging time for Brent’s AoS and grounds of defence to 14 days. You are delighted because you 
know how important this is to Mohammed, and you know how difficult these orders are to obtain.


Mohammed is consequently returned to Brent’s care, pending the outcome of the claim or further 
order. He is accommodated at a semi-independent placement with on-site support staff. 


Two weeks later, Brent duly files and serves its AoS and grounds of defence. Some of their argument 
does not sit comfortably with you. You forward the pleading to Counsel setting out your observations. 
Counsel settles a Reply to be filed and served. 


A week later you hear from the Administrative Court granting the permission application, and 
transferring the claim to the Upper Tribunal for fact-finding determination. You pay the JR 
continuation fee within the 7 day deadline. 







Case Study: Before the Upper Tribunal for 
Fact-Finding
Mohammed’s case is now before the Upper Tribunal, Immigration & Asylum 
Chamber. Standard directions are issued including for disclosure (28 days) 
and for the filing and service of any further witness statement evidence (28 
days after disclosure). A case management hearing is listed in 3 months’ 
time, after all directions should have been complied with.


You have meanwhile been chasing Germany for response to the GDPR 
request (after the 1 month deadline lapsed) and have just received an email 
attaching a PDF file of 39 pages, most of which is in the German language. 
You note that Mohammed’s date of birth is within the documents as 
’01/01/1998’. His claimed date of birth is 29/12/2003, supported by the 
original medical document. 


What should you do next?







Case Study: Before the Upper Tribunal for Fact-Finding
- Obtain certified translations of the 39 pages from German to English.
- Review the translations in full with Counsel. It appears that Mohammed was at all times 


treated as an adult asylum seeker by the German authorities, using a date of birth of 
01/01/1998.


- Take Mohammed’s instructions in relation to the date of birth within the material from 
Germany, and consider whether a further client statement should be prepared to 
accompany disclosure of the material to the Upper Tribunal and opponent.  


- Consider with Counsel the possibility of expert evidence in relation to asylum processes 
in Germany (which may be from a German lawyer) and also in relation to the original 
medical document supporting Mohammed’s date of birth (which may be from an Eritrea 
country expert). 







Case Study: Upper Tribunal continued… 
You file and serve a further statement for Mohammed exhibiting the GDPR material and translations, with the 
statement setting out Mohammed’s further evidence on the point. You do this within a couple of weeks of receiving the 
material, mindful to ensure compliance with the ongoing duty of candour.  Other than the possibility of expert 
evidence, what other considerations might you have at this stage of the case?


- Can I obtain any further helpful witness statement evidence to file/serve by the UT direction deadline?


- Mohammed has been back in Brent’s care for a period of time now, and remember this is a different placement 
to before. The on-site support workers might have helpful opinion to share. Again it is tactically best to seek 
informal evidence and work towards the possibility of a formal statement, as something is better than nothing. 
It is wise to speak via telephone first to gauge if their view might be helpful, before emailing. 


- Hopefully you have been pestering Brent to ensure that Mohammed’s needs are being properly met, including 
him receiving formal education provision. If he is attending college, is there a tutor who could be approached 
for an opinion on the matter?


- Take further instructions from Mohammed, and review updating social care file material provided by Brent 
under the disclosure deadline, to consider whether any other third party could be approached for evidence.


- Is it worth sending without prejudice correspondence inviting Brent to concede the claim when considering 
Mohammed’s witness statement and documentary evidence of age? This could be relied upon in terms of costs.







How the story ends??? 


Mohammed goes onto win his case following fact-finding hearing!


I hope this was helpful!


Edward Taylor
Associate 
Osbornes Law
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Any questions or comments?


• Antonia Benfield – a.benfield@doughtystreet.co.uk
• Helen Johnson – helen.johnson@refugeecouncil.org.uk
• Edward Taylor - edward.taylor@osborneslaw.com


Thank you for joining us



mailto:a.benfield@doughtystreet.co.uk

mailto:helen.johnson@refugeecouncil.org.uk

mailto:edward.taylor@osborneslaw.com
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